

Sustainable and Green Finance Institute

Consumption Carbon Footprint: Singapore Case Study

SGFIN Whitepaper Series #7



Flavia Badarinza | Johannine Enerio | Devansh Joshi | Johan Sulaeman | Sumit Agarwal



Consumption Carbon Footprint:

Singapore Case Study

Flavia Badarinza, Johannine Enerio, Devansh Joshi, Johan Sulaeman, Sumit Agarwal

National University of Singapore

SGFIN Whitepaper Series #7

February 2025

Abstract

Our study introduces an analysis of the consumption carbon footprint of households and individuals in Singapore. The methodology integrates GHG emissions associated with various household consumption categories, such as food, transportation, recreation, and utilities. We apply the country-agnostic algorithm described in the SGFIN Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework" to the Singapore context, based on Singapore-specific features such as consumption preferences, import patterns, international shipping routes, estimated retail prices, inflation rates, currency exchange rates, waste management practices and more. Our study delves into the carbon footprint variations between income levels and consumption categories, exploring potential reductions in individual carbon footprints via the adoption of sustainable consumption practices. Finally, we outline the importance of carbon labelling for products and services and the decarbonization of value chains.

Keywords: GHG emissions estimation, Environmental impact, Household carbon footprint, Individual carbon footprint, Carbon intensity, Physical emission factors, Monetary emission factors, Sustainable consumption.

JEL Classification: G39, L52, M14, Q51, Q54

Recommended citation:

Badarinza, F., Enerio, J., Joshi D., Sulaeman J., and Agarwal, S. (2025). "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Singapore Case Study", SGFIN Whitepaper Series #7

Editorial Correspondence should be addressed to <u>SGFIN@nus.edu.sg</u>.



About SGFIN

The Sustainable and Green Finance Institute (SGFIN) is a research institute established by the National University of Singapore (NUS). SGFIN aims to develop deep research capabilities in sustainable and green finance with a focal point on Asia, and to provide thought leadership and shape sustainability outcomes in policymaking across the financial sector and the economy at large. Supported by exceptional domain experts across NUS, SGFIN equips businesses with critical cross-disciplinary knowledge, training, and toolkits to integrate sustainability dynamics into their business strategies and investment decisions to better quantify the environmental and social impacts of their business developments, operations, products, and services. In essence, SGFIN aims to help companies embed sustainability as a key pillar in their business decisions.

© 2025 Sustainable and Green Finance Institute (SGFIN), National University of Singapore, Singapore.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form, or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission from the copyright owners.

Disclaimer

The opinions expressed in this publication are the responsibilities of the authors and do not necessarily represent or reflect the position of the National University of Singapore (NUS) or the Sustainable and Green Finance Institute (SGFIN).

The information provided by SGFIN in this publication is for general informational purposes only. All information is provided in good faith; however, we make no representation or warranty of any kind, express or implied, regarding the accuracy, adequacy, validity, reliability, availability, or completeness of any information.

Any reliance you place on such information is, therefore, at your own risk. NUS, SGFIN and the authors shall not be responsible or accept any liability to any person for any loss, damage, costs or expenses howsoever arising, whether directly or indirectly, whether in contract, tort or otherwise from any action or decision taken or not taken, as a result of any person relying on or otherwise using this document or arising from any error or omission contained in this document.

Sustainable and Green Finance Institute (SGFIN)

National University of Singapore Innovation 4.0, 3 Research Link #02-02, Singapore 117602

The cover image for this Whitepaper has been sourced from Canva Pro (Ivan Bajic, Sustainable development, Getty Images Signature).



Foreword

As our global society is increasingly focused on transitioning towards a more sustainable future, the role of individual consumers is emerging as more important than ever. Governments, financial institutions, companies, and communities worldwide are implementing policies and strategies aimed at reducing greenhouse gas emissions in financed portfolios and the real economy.

For these macro-level efforts to accelerate at the pace required to achieve our global climate targets, individual consumers must play an equally ambitious



role in consciously addressing their own carbon footprints. Ultimately, all anthropogenic emissions occur in the creation of goods and services consumed by individuals and households.

This paper contributes to this crucial effort by translating household consumption patterns into their environmental impact, and exploring how sustainable lifestyle choices could enable potential emissions reductions. The study applies our countryagnostic carbon footprinting algorithm to the Singapore context, quantifying carbon emissions associated with the consumption of typical goods and services by Singaporean households. By analyzing key consumption categories such as food, transportation, housing, and recreation, this study sheds light on the major drivers of emissions associated with household consumption in Singapore.

The drive behind this project is the need to empower individual consumers with easy to digest information about the environmental impact of their consumption. As we are all increasingly faced with the wicked problem of climate change, we hope this paper can contribute to providing consumers with accurate and relevant carbon consumption information and empowering them to be part of the solution to our global climate challenge.

Prof. Sumit Agarwal Managing Director, SGFIN Low Tuck Kwong Distinguished Professor of Finance at NUS Business School Professor of Economics and Real Estate President of Asian Bureau of Finance and Economic Research February 14th, 2025

Executive Summary

- 1. **Individual consumers** share the responsibility and opportunities to support climate change mitigation, alongside contributions from regulators, financiers, and companies.
- 2. To exercise their **agency** more effectively, consumers need to be more **informed** of the carbon impact of the products and services they consume, and in particular of the emission factors that can be associated with their consumption.
- 3. Environmental impact information regarding products and services is still opaque due to data scarcity, potentially paralyzing actions. We address this need by developing a country-agnostic **algorithm** allowing for mapping, adjustments, conversions and extrapolations of **emission factors** to be associated with products and services enjoyed by individual consumers.
- 4. Combining this algorithm with **aggregate consumption** data of Singaporean households, we identify the key contributors to the carbon footprint of the average Singaporean households to be **Food** (including Food Serving Services), **Transport**, **Recreation and Culture**, and **Housing** (including Utilities).
- 5. We identify large variations in the carbon intensity of products and services within each consumption category. Focusing on the most carbon intensive products and services in **consumers' lifestyle**, we highlight potentially impactful **sustainability actions**, including switching to a vegan diet, prioritizing food items that are sourced closer to home without the need for air transportation, and opting for mass public transportation.
- 6. Going forward, we stress the importance of **carbon labelling** for products and services to allow consumers to take more decisive actions, stimulating corporate emissions reporting initiatives and eventually **the decarbonization of global value chains**.

5



About the Authors

Flavia Badarinza is a Strategic Industry Initiatives Lead and Research Associate at the Sustainable and Green Finance Institute (SGFIN). She has 15 years of leadership experience in the technology sector with HP, Oracle and Microsoft, having overseen complex programs, teams, operations and institutional relationships. She holds an MBA in Corporate Strategy from the National University of Singapore, and an

MSc. in International Financial Risk Management from the Academy of Economic Studies in Romania.

Johannine Enerio is a Research Analyst at SGFIN. Her work revolves primarily around web software development projects, with a focus on translating SGFIN's research into practical applications and interfaces for diverse audiences. She obtained her bachelor's degree in computer engineering from NUS.

Devansh Joshi has 7 years of experience in improving Commodity Trading Risk Management practices using data science principles. He holds a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering, and an MBA in Finance from NMIMS, Mumbai as well as an MSc. in Sustainable and Green Finance (MSGF) from NUS. Devansh participated in research at SGFIN during his MSGF study.

Johan Sulaeman is the Director of SGFIN. He is also a Dean's Chair and an Associate Professor in the Department of Finance at the NUS Business School. He currently serves as one of the Scientists at AIDF (Asian Institute of Digital Finance) and on the Advisory Board of Mandiri Institute. He has been involved in designing and delivering executive programmes for large companies and financial institutions

in the region, primarily on topics related to sustainability, finance, and technology. His current research focuses on corporate social and environmental performance. His research has appeared in top economics and business journals, and been covered in various international publications, including The Wall Street Journal and The New York Times. He also contributes opinion pieces to the Straits Times and Channel News Asia.

Sumit Agarwal is Low Tuck Kwong Distinguished Professor of Finance at the Business School and a Professor of Economics and Real Estate at NUS. He is the Managing Director of SGFIN. Sumit is also the President of Asian Bureau of Finance and Economic Research (ABFER). He was a senior financial economist in the research department at the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago and a senior vice president and

credit risk management executive in the Small Business Risk Solutions Group of Bank of America. He is featured on various media outlets like the BBC, CNBC, and Fox on issues relating to finance, banking, and real estate markets. Sumit's research is widely cited in leading newspapers and magazines like the Wall Street Journal, The New York Times,









The Economist, and the U.S Presidents Report to Congress. He also runs a Podcast on household financial decision making called Kiasunomics.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the contributions from SGFIN researchers who have joined us at various stages of this research project – to name but a few Alexander Viviano, Li Yuting, Sun Zounachuan, Zhang Shunyu, Simonne Letetia Pinto, Bhairavee Deepak Wagh, Michael Alexander and Vigilia Ang. We are also grateful for the feedback and support of Dr. Deserina Sulaeman, Dr. Sa-Pyung Sean Shin, Associate Professor Cristian Badarinza, Dr. David Broadstock and Associate Professor Zhang Weina.



Contents

1. Introduction	9
1.1 Climate change and climate action	9
1.2. How can individual consumers be empowered to act?	9
2. Measuring individual carbon footprints	11
2.1 Carbon accounting and estimation methodologies at country level	
2.2 Carbon emissions estimation methodologies at individual level	
2.3 Methodology framework development for Emission Factors	
3. EF Model overview	
3.1 Developing a country-agnostic calculation framework	14
3.2 Calculation methodology	
3.3 Emission Factors (EFs)	
3.4 Simplified Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) mapping	
4. Developing Singapore-specific EFs	
4.1 Singapore contextualization	
4.2 Framework application for Singapore	
5. Singapore consumption analysis: from expenditures to emissions	
5.1 Singapore household expenditure data	
5.1.1 Singapore survey consumption categories	
5.1.2 More granular consumption categories	
5.2 Singaporean household spending	
5.3 Singaporean household carbon footprint	
5.4 Household expenses versus emissions – income comparison	
5.5 Emissions drivers	
5.5.1 Carbon intensity of Expenditure Categories	
5.5.2 Variation between income quintiles	37
5.5.3 Variation within Expenditure Categories	39
6. Breaking down individual carbon footprints in Singapore	41
6.1 What can consumers do to reduce their carbon footprints?	
6.2 What if we switched to a lacto-vegetarian diet?	
6.3 How about if we went fully vegan?	
6.4 How about using public transportation instead of driving personal car	s?46
6.5 How about sourcing foods from closer to home?	
6.6 How about taking a more ambitious approach?	
6.7 Lifestyle changes across income quintiles	



7. Conclusion	52
References	
Definitions	62
Acronyms	

List of Figures

Figure	1: Calculation methodology	15
Figure	2: Simplified LCA approach	18
Figure	3: Emissions allocation logic	24
Figure	4: Methodology overview	27
Figure	5: Expenditure and commodities data mapping	28
Figure	6: Household Expenditures by Expenditure Category	30
Figure	7: Household top 8 Expenditure Categories	30
Figure	8: Household GHG Emissions by Expenditure Category	31
Figure	9: Comparative view of Income, Expenditure and GHG Emissions	32
Figure	10: Household GHG Emissions by Expenditure Category	34
Figure	11: Contribution to total GHG Emissions and Spend	35
Figure	12: Carbon Intensity by Expenditure Category	37
Figure	13: Variation between income quintiles	38
Figure	14: Variation within Expenditure Categories	39
Figure	15: Average Yearly Individual Carbon Footprint	41
Figure	16: Sustainable consumption scenarios	42
Figure	17: Switching to a lacto-vegetarian diet	44
Figure	18: Switching to a vegan diet	45
Figure	19: Switching to public transportation	46
Figure	20: Switching to eating regionally sourced foods (ASEAN countries)	47
Figure	21: Switching to several changes at once	49
Figure	22: Sustainable consumption impact across income quintiles	50

List of Tables

Table 1: Household parameters included in our c	alculation29
Table 2: GHG emissions across income quintiles -	top 8 Expenditure Categories 33



1. Introduction

1.1 Climate change and climate action

Human activities are an unequivocal cause of **climate change**, through "unsustainable energy use, land use and land-use change, lifestyles and patterns of consumption and production across regions, between and within countries, and among individuals", leading to "widespread adverse impacts" and "related losses and damages to nature and people" (IPCC, 2023).

Responding to this quintessentially "wicked problem¹" of climate change (Rayner, 2006) – for which one-size-fits-all or compromise-free solutions do not exist and whose uncertain effects have global and inter-generational reach – requires a **concerted transformation** at a scale and speed unseen before in the history of our global society.

With the urgent need for the transformation to be delivered within the timespan of a single generation or even less, a **whole-of-society** approach is essential, requiring action across governments, companies, communities, and individuals. With the "**all hands on deck**" call to action (Hale, 2016), sharing the burden of mitigating climate change has been central to discussions around the role of governments, businesses, and the broader society in the decarbonization of the real economy.

At a global level, key macroeconomic items on the agenda are phasing out fossil fuels, accelerating the energy transition, and realigning financial systems towards prioritizing climate action. Given the urgency and depth of the required shift towards a more sustainable society, there is also ample space and need for **meaningful individual action** (Hampton and Whitmarsh, 2023).

Understanding tangible opportunities and the critical need for individual contribution to the global decarbonization efforts requires a more comprehensive account of consumer emission footprints, which can "provide insights into the social determinants of environmental impacts and can inform household actions directed towards reducing footprints" (Ivanova et al., 2016). Clear and transparent information on their **consumption footprints** can stimulate individual consumers to drive bottom-up societal changes and accelerate systemic transformation.

1.2. How can individual consumers be empowered to act?

Individual action can take a variety of shapes and forms.

Individuals and households adopting more **sustainable lifestyles** can be an effective mechanism to spur corporate sustainability progress. Consumers who are actively

¹ Wicked problems have been defined as complex, multifaceted issues with no definitive formulation (due to their dynamic and interconnected nature), no clear solution (as any possible approach would have its own trade-offs and consequences), not comparable to other problems (which makes the application of previous solutions difficult), systemic and with broad effects for multiple stakeholders (Rayner, 2006).



including environmental and sustainability impacts in consumption choices can collectively exert pressure on companies to improve the sustainability of their supply and value chains. A conscious effort to consume less environmentally damaging products and services is essential in avoiding ecological, and ultimately economic collapse (Meadows et al., 1974).

This paradigm shift requires a change of deeply rooted **societal norms**, some of which entailing conspicuous consumption of items associated with wealth and status², or cultural traditions that involve carbon intensive consumption preferences³. In addition to a sustainable lifestyle anchored in sustainable consumption, a more **responsible investment** philosophy that integrates sustainability considerations may affect corporate decisions, but we still lack robust, systematic, and generalizable evidence on the effectiveness of financial markets in improving corporate sustainability.

Concurrently, fuelled by growing economies across developing regions and a growing middle class within developed ones, the growth in the global economy unavoidably leads to increased consumption, straining natural resources and accelerating climate change and biodiversity loss. Empowering individuals to **consume more selectively** to optimize their carbon footprints would be critical in transforming the social norm from one where (excessive) consumption is indicative of status and success, into one where thoughtful consumption and educated choices are a trademark of personal achievement. **Conspicuous conservation effects** (Sexton et al., 2014) could further accelerate virtuous circles whereby restraint becomes enshrined among valued behaviours.

A crucial challenge in developing a collective conservation mindset is that individual consumers often lack **adequate information** on the extent of their individual contribution to these problems (Enlund et al., 2023), how to improve their own sustainability performance (Ivanova et al., 2016), and how their collective actions can have substantial impacts. Providing information and education on the causes, impacts, and potential solutions – including collective actions – for climate change is therefore crucial to changing their attitudes (Bergquist et al., 2022).

Equipping individual consumers with relevant information on how their **personal carbon footprint** contributes to global warming could stimulate the transformation towards more optimal individual carbon footprints, and collectively a more sustainable global carbon footprint.

² Such as ownership of high fuel consumption private cars or opting for business class flight services.

³ Such as dietary preferences for animal-based products.



2. Measuring individual carbon footprints

2.1 Carbon accounting and estimation methodologies at country level

At a country level, the main types of GHG emissions allocation methodologies are territorial-based accounting, production-based accounting, and consumption-based accounting (Barrett et al., 2013).

Territorial GHG emissions refer to "emissions and removals taking place within national (including administered) territories and offshore areas over which the country has jurisdiction" (IPCC, 1996, Barrett et al., 2013). This is the format in which The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) requires countries to submit annually their National Emissions Inventories (Afionis et al., 2017).

Production-based emission accounting, while often equated with territorial-based accounting, differs through its alignment with the economic domiciles of emissions producers, using the same system boundary as the System of National Accounts used for GDP reporting (Grubb et al., 2022). The intended objective of the Production-Based Accounting (PBA) approach is to assign emissions accountability to producers within a country's territory (Munksgaard and Pedersen, 2001), with inherent limitations due to its inability to capture GHG emissions embodied in international trade (Peters and Hertwich, 2008a; Davis and Caldeira, 2010), or emissions related to international air and sea transportation (Franzen and Mader, 2018, Mangir and Şahin, 2022).

Alongside the production-based approach, the **consumption-based** accounting (CBA) approach reflects emissions "at the point of consumption, attributing all the emissions that occurred in the course of production and distribution to the final consumers of goods and services" (Afionis et al., 2017). In this CBA approach, national GHG inventories can be thought of as a focal country's production-based national emissions adjusted by the emissions associated with international trades, i.e., adding emissions from the production of imported goods consumed in the focal country and subtracting emissions of the focal country's production of goods exported to other countries (Barrett et al., 2013). Such environmentally extended input-output (EEIO) models can be used to assess the environmental impact of economic activities within and between countries (Mangir and Şahin, 2022).

Leveraging EEIO models, the CBA approach attributes all upstream emissions generated along global value chains until the point of consumption of products and services – including from production processes of raw materials and intermediate products across all the countries participating in the supply chain – to the country of consumption (Pottier et al., 2020). While CBA approach provides a more complete view of national emissions, it requires complex macroeconomic calculations with inherently **higher uncertainty** in its estimation (Mangir and Şahin, 2022) and more intensive resource requirements than PBA (Liu, 2015).



2.2 Carbon emissions estimation methodologies at individual level

The **top-down** approaches mentioned above can be used to estimate country-level GHG emission total. We can arrive at estimates of **household** or **per capita** GHG emissions, i.e., averages at the household or individual level, by simply dividing these country-level totals by the country's total population. However, since the underlying estimations are performed at a country (or sectoral) level without differentiating between households or individuals based on their specific consumption patterns, they do not provide a granular picture of the variations in carbon footprints across individuals or households, which are crucial inputs for personal decision making and consumption choices.

The thrust of our study is built on an estimation approach that considers households' consumption of goods and services. The main inputs into this **bottom-up** approach are (1) the financial value of the products and services consumed, and (2) the estimated **Emission Factors (EFs)** that convert these consumed amounts into their associated GHG emissions quantity.⁴ We can then aggregate these product or service-level GHG emissions into an individual level GHG emissions footprint.

2.3 Methodology framework development for Emission Factors

We propose a methodology framework for sourcing, assessing, mapping, converting, adjusting and extrapolating existing Emission Factors (EF) data. This proposal is relevant in the context of **scarce and heterogenous EF data** across countries around the world, rendering carbon footprinting a costly and resource intensive exercise. The next three sections will describe the framework development in general and apply the framework to estimate carbon emission footprints in the specific context of Singaporean households. The framework follows principles and methodologies outlined in The Greenhouse Gas Protocol standards and guidance applicable to the carbon footprinting of goods and services (WRI and WBCSB, 2011a, 2011b, 2013).

Section 3 describes our proposed **country-agnostic framework⁵** which is centered around building a set of household-focused Monetary Emission Factors (Monetary EFs)

⁴ In our study we sourced and combined both Physical and Monetary EFs. We used Physical EFs and Monetary EFs in association with expenditures on goods and services, subject to a variety of assumptions and considerations around reliability, accuracy and uncertainty of the result. How these original Physical and Monetary EFs were derived is worth noting. To estimate Physical EFs, product or service Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) studies are typically used to measure the net GHG emissions associated with a unit of particular goods or services. Physical EFs might be affected by underestimation due to specific system boundaries or omitted supply chain emissions (Ingwersen and Li, 2020). Their usage for broader groups of products can introduce additional uncertainty. On the other hand, the original Monetary EFs we came across are typically produced by Environmentally Extended Input Output (EEIO) models that allocate "national GHG emissions to groups of finished products based on economic flows between industry sectors", to reflect the GHG emissions associated with the monetary value of groups of goods and services, depending on the industry sector or sub-sector they belong to (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b). Monetary EFs are typically affected by high uncertainty as the broad calculations "may not represent nuances of unique processes and products, especially for non-homogenous sectors" (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b).

⁵ We discuss this framework at length in our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework".



based on consumption spending, i.e., kg CO₂e per unit of spending (e.g., SGD)⁶. We develop a country-agnostic EF framework that can be paired with country-specific insights. In particular, the Monetary EFs can be contextualized for domestic consumption in a specific country, which can subsequently be associated with financial transactions data at different levels of expenditure resolution in that country. We will elaborate on the methodology framework for EFs in the next section.

Section 4 describes our **country-specific application** of this framework to Singapore, resulting in the development of Singapore Monetary EFs and their application to the Singapore structure of household expenditures. This is followed by Section 5 which details how we factor in Singapore-specific insights such as the patterns of imports of goods that are typically consumed by Singaporean households, considering each exporting country's contribution to specific imported products. We factor in energy mix proxies (i.e., carbon intensity of electricity generation) of Singapore's trade partners, along with the distances and assumed freight modalities of countries exporting to Singapore in order to estimate international shipping emissions. We also use country level waste composition statistics and waste management practices. We apply country-specific currency exchange rates, inflation rates, and estimated average product price points in order to adjust, extrapolate, and convert all emission factors into a standard monetary format (kg CO₂e/SGD 2023).

Contextualizing the EF framework for Singapore, we generate a set of **consumptionbased emission factor estimates** for key expenditure items consumed in Singapore, which can then be applied to various levels of aggregation of consumed goods and services. Combining these emission factors with the statistics of the typical Singaporean household expenditures, we generate estimates of the GHG emissions associated with the typical consumption baskets of Singaporean households, classified by income level.

⁶ The use of a spend-based method to estimate emissions associated with the purchase of goods and services is in alignment with the GHG Protocol Technical Guidance for Calculating Scope 3 Emissions (version 1.0) (WRI, WBCSD, 2013), absent more specific products or services emissions data.



3. EF Model overview

3.1 Developing a country-agnostic calculation framework

To estimate these emission factors, we apply the data framework and algorithm that we describe in detail in our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework". Conceptually, our approach is close to the CBA methodology, in the sense that we look to attribute the entirety of products and services lifecycle emissions to end-consumers. However, we take a **bottom-up** approach by (1) identifying the Emission Factor (EF) for available (product x Country-of-Origin) combinations from publicly accessible data sources, (2) extrapolating these EFs to other (product x Country-of-Origin) combinations lacking publicly available data, and (3) contextualizing them for consumption in the focal country by integrating additional relevant data such as import flows, international shipping routes, and waste management practices⁷.

Structurally, the EFs from our **proposed approximation** can function as **temporary placeholders** for high-quality EF data generated using more resource-intensive product/service-specific Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) analyses in all relevant Countries-of-Origin. We propose this approach since accurate LCA processes require a widespread adoption of standardized carbon reporting and / or labelling for all products and services by companies of all sizes, which is unlikely to happen anytime soon in the current global context. Indeed, we see an urgent need for "placeholder" EFs, in order to advance the development of holistic calculation models and obtain preliminary meaningful insights until more extensive EF data becomes available.

For any given country-of-import, we have around up to one million combinations of traded product categories⁸ and countries of origin⁹. If for each product category, there were 10 variations of brands and Stock Keeping Units (SKUs) (we anticipate there to be much more), then more than **10 million** different high quality EFs would be required to more accurately estimate the GHG emissions associated with any given consumption basket, anywhere in the world. These millions of data points (originated by different entities across various jurisdictions) would require global governance, standardization, reporting, verification and assurance – along with regular updates, aggregation, and publication. Suffice to say, we do not have a global platform in place for this purpose, and nor are we likely to have one in the foreseeable future.

Our proposed approach offers a robust methodology for filling in the gaps at this critical juncture. Our goal is to build an iterative and **scalable data framework**, allowing for ingestion and refinement of more extensive and granular data points from

⁷ We apply different methodologies for products and services, as described in our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework.

⁸ Within this context, we are considering product categories to be the most granular level at which products are tracked in import and export global reports, which according to our research is the commodity level as per the Harmonized System (as defined by World Customs Organization, 2022a).

⁹ For example, for Singapore we have ~217 countries and territories trading up to ~5200 commodities as per the Harmonized System classification, resulting in ~up to 1.12 million (commodity x "Country-of-Origin") combinations.



and in future works – in terms of both the granularity of specific consumer goods and services, and their related GHG intensities. This would allow for potential connectivity with financial transactions enabling real-time carbon footprinting of purchases¹⁰. A guiding principle for our model has been the feasibility to connect this data framework to consumer transaction data with detailed product-level granularity (e.g., price, quantity/volume, and Country-of-Origin).

3.2 Calculation methodology



Our calculation methodology revolves around estimating contextualized **Monetary Emission Factors** (Monetary EFs) that can be associated with domestic expenditures on specific products and services, in order to derive the carbon footprint of each purchase (Figure 1). In examining GHG emissions associated with each household's consumption, our EF methodology starts with the estimates of Monetary EFs denominated in **kg CO₂e/currency units**¹¹, which are then multiplied with the household's expenditure on the corresponding item to generate the household's carbon footprint due to that item. We can then aggregate the footprint across all goods and services consumed by each household. Figure 1 illustrates our overarching model, which is aligned to the spend-based method for assessing emissions associated with purchased goods and services from The Greenhouse Gas Protocol Technical Guidance for Calculating Scope 3 Emissions (version 1.0) (WRI, WBCSD, 2013)

Our methodology framework therefore starts with the questions: what goods and services do households in a focal country typically consume, where are they imported from, how are they shipped, and how can the related emissions be estimated?

We perform the following analysis for each **product** type (expenditure item):

¹⁰ Consumer financial transactions, such as they are typically recorded on invoices, receipts from retailers or service providers, typically reflect the products or services sold. If a Monetary EF is in place for every such item and embedded in the retailers or service providers inventory data, then the carbon footprint of these items could be offered as an insight to consumers. It could be printed on the invoices and receipts itself, as a carbon label reflecting the carbon "cost" in addition to the financial cost.

¹¹ CO₂e stands for carbon dioxide (CO₂) equivalent, which is the standard unit used to convert GHGs to CO₂, based on the global warming potential (GWP) of each of the various greenhouse gases (GHGs). All GHGs are converted based on amount of CO₂ that would have the same impact on global warming. This provides a standard unit of emissions measurement for emissions that are composed of various GHGs (WRI and WBCSD, 2011a).



- We map the product to **traded commodities**¹² in the focal country's import data.
- We assume that the entire value chain of the product is located in the Countryof-Origin, which we consider to be the same as the country-of-import.¹³
- We map the shipping routes and distances from the Country-of-Origin, identifying the most likely shipping mode for each product to arrive in the focal country among several modes – air, road, sea freight – depending on the item's perishability.
- We infer price proxies for some products, which we will later use for Emission Factors conversion from Physical to Monetary¹⁴.

For **services**, we expect mapping the value chains to be significantly more complex, resulting in less readily available macro or micro level aggregated data. For countries lacking publicly available emission factors data for a particular service type, we decide to apply a parsimonious methodology, whereby we identify emission factors we considered representative for each service type from publicly available data in other countries and then contextualized them for the focal country through the methodology we describe in subsequent sections.

We use these datapoints for products and services to properly **adjust**, **convert**, **and extrapolate** EFs that we source from various publicly available data sources. After associating each purchase with an estimated EF, we obtain the carbon footprint of the respective expenditure.

We can sum up these expenditure carbon footprints for each household to obtain the household's **aggregate carbon footprint**, which can be benchmarked against domestic averages, global averages, or even the GHG emissions per capita budgets compatible with a 1.5°C or 2°C global warming pathway.

3.3 Emission Factors (EFs)

The next phase consists of **sourcing Emission Factors** that are representative of the granularity of the expenditure items they will be mapped to. Our recommendation is to prioritize government bodies, reputable international agencies or peer reviewed academic studies. As described in our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework", we recommend qualifying each EF, capturing if available the key data points for subsequent algorithmic processing:

- Product/Service representativeness (the extent to which the EFs represent the expenditure items they assigned for, at the appropriate level of resolution)
- Temporal representativeness (the temporal proximity to the publication year of the EF's source)

¹² We use the term traded commodities to refer to exported and imported goods, as defined through the Harmonised System commodity codes nomenclatures (World Customs Organization, 2022a).

¹³ We source the countries-of-import from the BACI CEPII dataset (CEPII, 2023). We use the term country-of-import to refer to the countries where goods consumed in Singapore and imported from.

¹⁴ The usage of estimated average prices for the conversion of physical to monetary EFs can introduce significant uncertainty in the end result. For more accurate emissions estimations, we recommend more extensive price studies for specific product categories in future bodies of work.

- **Geographical representativeness** (the similarity of the EF's source country to the Country-of-Origin of the item of interest)
- Unit of measurement (which will subsequently be subject to multi-step conversion)
- System boundaries (the lifecycle stages covered by the EF's source)

We then define an algorithm to **adjust**, **convert**, **extrapolate and aggregate** this data in order to estimate the focal country's contextualized Monetary Emission Factors. This algorithm translates the source EF data into the common unit of kg CO₂e per local currency as of the focal year of the analysis. A comprehensive discussion on this is available in our companion Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework", including a discussion on the extensive data challenges we came across (such as data scarcity and heterogeneity), as well as the assumptions and underlying uncertainty of the model.

3.4 Simplified Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) mapping

We assign all emissions associated with the **whole lifecycle** of each product and service to the end-consumer, targeting to include raw materials extraction and processing, manufacturing, transportation in the country of origin, export and international shipping, import and domestic warehousing, distribution and retail, use and waste management. This holistic approach is best positioned to drive awareness, responsibility and actions from end-consumers.

For products, we endeavor to take a holistic approach, and attempt to map as many EFs as possible to each stage in the product lifecycle, following a simplified **Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)**¹⁵ approach, by applying a different methodology at each process stage as illustrated in Figure 2, and detailed below:

- Stage 1: Cradle to export gate, covering the stages of raw materials extraction, processing, manufacturing and transportation in the Country-of-Origin up to the point of export
- Stage 2: International shipping, covering logistics in international space, be it via air, road or sea freight
- Stage 3: Import gate to retail shelf, covering local warehousing, distribution and retail operations in the focal country
- Stage 4: Consumer use, covering the end user consumption stage
- Stage 5: Waste management, covering collection and management of waste

¹⁵ Life Cycle Assessments are defined as the "compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system through its life cycle" (WRI, WBCSD, 2011).



Figu	re 2: Simplified LCA c	ip	proach		Stage 3		Stage 4		Stage 5	
Product	Emissions generated in Country of Origin (Embodied Carbon)		Emissions generated between countries		Emissions generated in the focal country prior to consumption		Emissions generated in the focal country through use		Emissions generated at end of life	
journey	Raw materials extraction, processing, transportation to factory, manufacturing, transportation / warehousing to international shipping point*		Air / Sea/ Road transportation to Singapore		Domestic warehousing, transportation, distribution, retail		(Electricity and waste captured separately)	•	90% incineration, 10% landfill	
Source: Figure produced by our project team incorporating guidelines from The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard (WRI and WBCSD, 2011a).										

We develop a set of EFs attributable to each main LCA stage of a given consumption item, which are then subject to contextualization for focal country consumption (such as by considering specific import distances and shipping routes, or national waste management practices), and then sum up to derive the EF covering the cradle-tograve lifecycle stages for that specific item.¹⁶ The set of derived EFs for any given country is therefore based on contextualized and holistic consumption for that country, which can then be mapped to different levels of resolution of expenditures in that country to take into account the potentially distinct compositions of consumption baskets due to the varying preferences (e.g., import patterns) of different subgroups of the country's population.

¹⁶ For Services we apply a simplified version of this approach, which describes the granular methodology we apply for finished goods.



4. Developing Singapore-specific EFs

The remainder of this study focuses on the case of Singapore and the typical consumption baskets of its households. Despite the lack of domestic LCA for most of the products and services it consumes, Singapore provides a powerful illustration of our proposed bottom-up approach since a large fraction of products consumed by its population is imported.

4.1 Singapore contextualization

In order to contextualize the global, country-agnostic framework that we describe in our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework" to the Singapore case study, our model employs several sets of Singapore-specific or Singapore-relevant data sources:

- Singapore imports data: We used the data provided by CEPII (Centre d'Études Prospectives et d'Informations Internationales) through the BACI (Base pour I 'Analyse du Commerce International) dataset¹⁷, to obtain the full list of Singapore trading partners, as well as the imported values (in USD) and quantities from each source country, for each traded commodity¹⁸. For simplicity of calculation, we assume the "country-of-import" to be the "Country-of-Origin". We also assume that the local Singaporean production of the respective commodities to be null, which seems reasonable given the limited space for production in Singapore, which is a small island country.
- Country-of-Origin EFs: Country-of-Origin's Emission Factors (subsequently, Country-of-Origin EFs) are sourced looking opportunistically for EFs representative for finished goods, from key Countries-of-Origin covering as much as possible at least one country from the 3 country baskets we have defined¹⁹. For our study we have chosen highly reliable data sources such as US EPA ORD²⁰, UK DEFRA²¹, UK DESNZ²², China Institute of Public& Environmental Affairs and China City Greenhouse Gas Working Group ²³, Climate Charter,

¹⁷As retrieved from the BACI dataset, version 202301 (CEPII, 2023).

¹⁸ The BACI dataset offers "yearly data on bilateral trade flows at the product level. Products are identified using the Harmonized System (HS), which is the standard nomenclature for international trade, used by most customs", as retrieved from the CEPII BACI Database description (CEPII, 2023).

¹⁹ In our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework" we describe in detail this concept. Essentially, we define 3 groups of countries that we consider comparable from an energy mix, technological advancement and work practices perspective. We define these groups as "country baskets" and we look to source as much as possible at least one EF for each product, for a Country-of-Origin from each country basket.

²⁰ As retrieved from the dataset US EPA Supply Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors v1.2 by NAICS-6 (US EPA ORD, 2023).

²¹ As retrieved from the dataset UK and England's carbon footprint to 2020. UK full dataset 1990 - 2020, including conversion factors by SIC code. UK Footprint Results (1990 - 2020) (UK DEFRA, 2023).

²² As retrieved from the dataset UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (UK DESNZ & UK DEFRA, 2023).

²³ As retrieved from the dataset available in the CPCD, China Products Carbon Footprint Factors Database (China IPE and China City GHG, 2024).

ICRC and IFRC²⁴, CarbonCloud²⁵, Ember Climate²⁶, A*STAR, Deloitte and Temasek (2019)²⁷, Mike Berners-Lee (2020)²⁸, and others²⁹. For each product we strive to source Emission Factors that we could associate with specific LCA stages in the product lifecycle journey.

- To extrapolate the EFs we were able to source to missing (product x Countryof-Origin) combinations through energy conversion, Singapore's trading partners are divided into 3 country baskets, depending on their technology and energy mix similarities as reflected in GDP per capita and kg CO₂e/kwh indicators, respectively³⁰.
- To analyze the emissions related to product transportation, we listed Singapore's **shipping routes and distances** from all trading partners, and the most likely shipping mode for each consumption item³¹.
- Singapore's average retail price proxy estimations for Products and Services. We derive these either from the CEPII BACI inferred Free-On-Board (FOB) exporter prices (CEPII, 2023), or from manual sampling of price points from online platforms. We use these prices for EF conversion from other denominators to SGD (such as from kg CO₂e/kg to kg CO₂e/SGD).
- Singapore's waste management practices, including waste composition and recycling statistics³².
- Singapore's household consumption data (particularly the composition of consumption basket of representative households in each income quintile of the population) and expenditure data from the Singapore Department of Statistics Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (Singapore Department of Statistics, 2019b). We manually map each household consumption item on the survey with the list of imported commodities from the import data above.

4.2 Framework application for Singapore

We process these **Country-of-Origin** EFs through the following adjustment, conversion, and extrapolation algorithm:

 Stage 1 (Cradle to export gate): This is what we consider the embodied carbon stage, for which we obtain specific EFs for each product from third party sources.³³

²⁴ As retrieved from the Humanitarian Carbon Calculator (Climate Charter, ICRC, IFRC, 2023).

²⁵ As retrieved from the CarbonCloud website (CarbonCloud website, 2024).

²⁶ As retrieved from the dataset Yearly Electricity Data (Ember Climate, 2023).

²⁷ As retrieved from the report Environmental Impact of Key Food Items in Singapore (A*STAR et al., 2019).

²⁸ As retrieved from the book How Bad Are Bananas? The Carbon Footprint of Everything (Berners-Lee, 2020).

²⁹ Other sources include: OpenCO2net, 2024, Podong et al., 2019, Poore and Nemecek, 2018, Ukaew and Bunsung, 2018, FoodFootprint, 2024.

³⁰ We will later use these country baskets to perform the extrapolation of Original EFs from the countries of origin that we found EF data available from third party sources to countries of origin that we did not find any EF data for. We extrapolate the EFs for products and services based on the EFs for electricity in the respective countries of origin. ³¹ As retrieved from Sea-distance.org (2024), and Air Miles Calculator (2024).

³² As retrieved from SG NEA, 2023.

³³ To determine the system boundaries of EFs, we rely when and as available on the insights provided explicitly in (or which we were able to infer from) the specific external dataset we leveraged. In some cases, the EFs we sourced and used for embodied carbon have more extensive system boundaries (broader than the ideal cradle to export gate we were looking for). We accepted this variation primarily due to the scarcity of the EF data itself, and also in an attempt to account for emissions that might not have been accounted for otherwise within typical cradle to factory gate system boundaries, such as emissions from logistics and warehousing operations for goods meant for exports.



- The EFs we were able to source had a high degree of heterogeneity, as they were originated from different sources. For Physical EFs (e.g., kg CO₂e/kg of beef), we convert them into Monetary EFs, i.e., the common unit of kg CO₂e/SGD, using price proxies derived either by leveraging FOB (exporter) ³⁴ values and applying a blanket 141% FOB to retail markup³⁵, or by sampling current consumer prices from online retailers³⁶.
- We transform all **Monetary EFs** (e.g. kg CO₂e/USD_2021) into the same unit of **kg CO₂e/SGD_2023** using currency exchange and inflation rates.
- To supplement the gap of EFs for other relevant countries of origin, we used an extrapolation algorithm to estimate what could be the potential EFs for products manufactured in other countries. To do so we take into consideration the electricity carbon intensity differentials³⁷ between countries, and the degree of dependency any given product carbon footprint has on the carbon footprint of electricity within the country it is produced in (which we refer to as 6). Our key assumptions are that (1) the carbon footprint of a product manufactured in a country depends on the energy mix in that particular country (as reflected in the carbon intensity of electricity), as well as the technological advancement within that particular country (as reflected in the GDP per capita), and (2) the contribution of energy related emissions to the carbon footprint of any given product is the same across countries. We describe this extrapolation methodology, the related formulas and underlying assumptions in our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework". While we posit this dependency on 6 for EFs for the same product from 2 different countries of origin, this **hypothesis** is **not proven**. This is the reason why we consider our extrapolated Emission factors as **placeholders**, until either the 6 hypothesis is further refined, or until the data ecosystem is enhanced to a point where the need for placeholders is minimized ³⁸.

³⁴ Per the BACI dataset documentation (CEPII, 2023), we consider exporter FOB (Free on Board) values are generally reported by exporters. The import data leveraged from BACI CEPII deploys a "fobization technique of CIF import values" which estimates and removes CIF rates for data reconciliation purposes. (Gaulier and Zignago, 2010)

³⁵ We estimate this average mark-up of 141% by adding the following elements : an estimated ~3% FOB to CIF median ratio (Gaulier et al., 2008), ~8% for Singapore Goods and Services Tax (GST) as of 2022, ~30% estimated average importer mark-up, based on a 20%-40% average range (US ITA, 2024), and a ~100% for retail mark-up as a high level reference point (US ITA, 2024). We acknowledge the actual importer and retailer mark-ups can vary extensively across product categories down to brand level, and we recommend this proxy pricing approach to be refined further in future studies around carbon emissions associated with expenditures.

³⁶ For products for which we sourced EFs based on units other than kg (and for which FOB value per unit was therefore not available form the BACI CEPII 2023 dataset), we sample a limited set of unit prices from online retail platforms. As for the FOB based price estimation methodology described above, we acknowledge that actual prices can vary extensively from our estimated averages, and we recommend more extensive and in-depth retail price studies for future bodies of work on this topic.

³⁷ We define the electricity carbon intensity differential as the relative carbon intensity of electricity production between any 2 countries (Electricity EF of Country A/Electricity EF of Country B). We then apply this differential to estimate the EF of a product produced in Country A, based on the EF of the same product produced in Country B. The equation we use for extrapolation is $P_A = (1 - \delta)P_B + \delta \left(\frac{E_A}{E_B}\right) \times P_B$, where P_A is the EF of Product P produced in Country

A (which we were not able to source), P_B is the EF of Product P produced in Country B (which we were able to source), E_A is the EF for electricity produce din Country A, E_B is the EF for electricity produced in Country B, and G is product P carbon footprint's dependency on electricity. We detail this assumptions-based methodology, as well as the different values we assumed for G, in our companion Whitepaper.

³⁸ The technique is close to imputation, in the sense that our goal is to fill in missing EF by product by country, as a placeholder until more EF datapoints are in place for more (product x Country-of-Origin) combinations.



- Stage 2 (International Shipping): We estimate EFs for the transportation of each product, depending on its likely transportation modality (Air, Sea or Road), and distances from the countries of origin.
 - We source 3 **Physical EFs**, for international transportation of goods by Air, Sea and Road respectively³⁹
 - To determine the distance travelled by each product, we use commodity level decomposition, and related **import patterns⁴⁰**.
 - We assume the most likely **freight mode** by product depending on perishability. For all products imported from Malaysia we assume transport by road, for perishable food items imported from countries other from Malaysia we assume transport by air, and for non-perishable items imported from countries other than Malaysia we assume transport by sea.
 - We map for each Country-of-Origin the key **shipping hubs** for road transportation, air transportation (key airports) and sea transportation (key seaports).
 - We map for each Country-of-Origin shipping hub the **distance to Singapore**⁴¹.
 - The 3 sourced EFs are expressed as kg CO₂e/tonne.km, therefore we use import quantities, import values, and distance from Country-of-Origin, to convert the EFs to Monetary EFs applicable to the value of shipped goods, expressed as kg CO₂e/SGD⁴².

• Stage 3 (Import gate to retail shelf)

- We combine 2 EFs sourced from the UK DEFRA 2023 dataset⁴³ which cover warehousing and retail services. As these are monetary EFs, we use inflation⁴⁴ and currency exchange rates⁴⁵ to convert them to **kg CO₂e/SGD⁴⁶**.

Stage 4: Consumer use

 We consider all emissions resulting from actual use of the products to be reflected in other expenditures (such as electricity for domestic appliances, gas for preparation of food items at home, or waste collection and management of residues – all of which are reflected in utility bills or captured in the waste management attributed emissions as described below).

Stage 5: Waste management

³⁹ The sources we used for international transportation EFs for the shipments of goods are Ritchie, H (2020) and Weber and Matthews (2008a). The international transport of persons overseas for recreation purposes is handled using different methodologies depending on the expenditure categories reflecting this activity, and leveraging EFs applicable for the transport of persons, such as from Myclimate.org, 2024.

⁴⁰ Specifically, we look at the commodities as per the Harmonized System nomenclature (World Customs Organization, 2022a) mapped to each product, and the countries of origin they are imported from (CEPII BACI, 2023).

 ⁴¹ For air transport distances to Changi Airport, we use airmilescalculator.com (Air Miles Calculator, 2024). For sea transport distances to Port of Singapore we use sea-distance.org (Sea Distance, 2024) and Ports.com, 2024.
⁴² We describe in detail the formulas and assumptions related to the processing of International Shipping EFs in our

Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework".

⁴³ As retrieved from the dataset UK and England's carbon footprint to 2020. UK full dataset 1990-2020, including conversion factors by SIC code, UK Footprint Results (1990-2020) (UK DEFRA, 2023).

⁴⁴ We sourced Historical inflation rates from Singapore from Macrotrends, 2023.

⁴⁵ We sourced exchange rates from Exchange Rates UK, 2023.

⁴⁶ As the original EFs we sourced are representative for UK, we recommend that future research on this topic incorporates a more in-depth analysis of the Singapore specific warehousing and retail emissions structure, for further contextualization beyond unit conversion.



- We use SG domestic waste reports for average quantity and composition insights⁴⁷, which we manually map to the product categories in the consumption baskets.
- We use a weighted average of 2 EFs from the UK DEFRA dataset for domestic waste management (90% for incineration and 10% for landfill), aligned with domestic waste management practices⁴⁸.
- We derive the average per capita emissions related to waste and assign them to goods in the average consumption basket depending on waste composition statistics in Singapore and associate them with the value spent on the respective goods.
- We apply the derived EFs (measured as **kg CO₂e/SGD**) to further purchases of goods from the respective categories.

Finally, we sum up the EFs computed above to obtain a holistic EF covering the entire lifecycle of each product, which we later use in relation to expenditures on that specific item.

Figure 3 illustrates an example of how expenditure data, import data (for products only), and EF data is dis-aggregated, mapped, converted, extrapolated, adjusted, rolled up and re-aggregated for each expenditure Item Type. We have marked out differently the data sets that we have leveraged from other sources, versus the data that we have created through extrapolation, adjustments and conversions, and which is subject to a set of assumptions and related uncertainty as discussed at length in the companion Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework".

⁴⁷ As retrieved from SG NEA, 2023.

⁴⁸ We do so under the assumption that the waste composition arriving at landfill and incineration points is similar in UK and Singapore.



Figure 3: Emissions allocation logic







5. Singapore consumption analysis: from expenditures to emissions

This section presents an estimation of Singapore households' carbon footprint based on our algorithm⁴⁹. We apply the **estimated emission factors** to the average expenditures reported through the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey (HES) as of 2017 / 18.

These results are to be carefully interpreted in the context of the scope limitations, data challenges, assumptions and layered uncertainty drivers which we have highlighted in the previous sections and which we extensively detail in our companion Whitepaper.

5.1 Singapore household expenditure data

The first step in our model involves leveraging domestic data on **household expenditure composition** at a country level, such as the surveys that are typically the basis for Consumer Price Indexes (CPI) analyses. In this study, we employ the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey (SG DOS HES 2017 / 18⁵⁰) for insights on the consumption mix and associated expenditure for average Singapore households⁵¹. We used the latest release publicly available at the time we performed the calculation, which is as of 2017 / 18, converted into 2023 SGD through inflation indexing⁵². At the time of research for this study, the SD DOS Household Expenditure Survey 2023 / 24 was not yet published. For future bodies of work building on this model, we recommend running the framework on the 2023 / 24 expenditure data using 2023 as a year of reference, for more reliable results⁵³.

The expenditures are classified according to the primary function they serve following the **S-COICOP**, the Singapore Standard Classification of Individual Consumption According to Purpose (Singapore Department of Statistics, 2022)⁵⁴, which is aligned to the UN COICOP.⁵⁵ The global nomenclature alignment makes it a useful skeletal framework, with which current and future expenditure and emissions data, domestic or international, could be aligned and integrated in future research.

⁴⁹ The application of the model to Singapore is facilitated by the country's high reliance on imports, which informs our assumption of 0 local production that we discuss later on.

⁵⁰ The full survey is available on the SG Department of Statistics website (SG Department of Statistics, 2019b).

⁵¹ The survey is run every 5 years in Singapore across a representative sample of Singaporean households and is used as the basis for CPI and inflation index computation, among others.

⁵² We applied a ~14.21% compounded inflation rate.

⁵³ The CPI indexes are averages which we have used are applied homogenously across all expenditures, while there may have been different price dynamics at an expenditure level.

⁵⁴ More details on the consumer expenditure classification in the SG DOS HES 2017 / 18 are available in the" Report on the Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18" (SG DOS, 2019a) and in the Singapore Standard Classification of Individual Consumption According to Purpose (S-COICOP) (SG DOS, 2022).

⁵⁵ More details on the consumer expenditure classification according to UN COICOP are available in the Classification of Individual Consumption According to Purpose (COICOP) (UN DESA, 2018).



5.1.1 Singapore survey consumption categories

The Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 dataset offers SGD expenditure estimates for a **consumption basket** of goods and services organized in 4 levels of increasing granularity⁵⁶. We are referring to these levels as follows (the listing is in increasing levels of resolution)⁵⁷, listed below from the most general (highest hierarchy, lowest level of resolution), to the most specific (lowest hierarchy, highest level of resolution):

- Level 1: Expenditure Categories (15), such as "Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages".
- Level 2: Expenditure Sub-Categories (60), such as "Food" or "Non-Alcoholic Beverages".
- Level 3: Expenditure Item Classes (139), such as "Breads and Cereals", "Meat" or "Fruits".
- Level 4: Expenditure Item Types (324), such as "Fresh tropical fruits" or "Other fresh fruits".

5.1.2 More granular consumption categories

In order to build readiness for this model to potentially integrate real life and potentially more granular consumption data, we built 2 more levels of resolution. They are additional to the previous 4 levels as we do not have actual spend \$ data for them from the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey. Level 5 is the level at which we sourced Emission Factors for, and Level 6 is the tradable commodities data from which we extract import patterns.

- Level 5: Expenditure Items (524), such as "Bananas" or "Avocadoes" (both part of "Fresh tropical fruits". This is the level of resolution for which we have Emission Factors available. We see this as a Products and Services Library, which can be enhanced as more expenditure data, or more Emission Factors, become efficiently available. All Items are classified as either "Product" or "Service".
- Level 6: Commodities (2101), such as "80310 Fruit, edible: plantains, fresh or dried" and "80390 Fruit, edible: bananas, other than plantains, fresh or dried" (both mapped to "Bananas"). These commodities are defined by codes and nomenclatures in the "Harmonized System" (HS)⁵⁸. This is the level at which we observe import flows by country⁵⁹. We map selected commodities to Level 5 items above⁶⁰, and for each item we sum up respective associated commodity quantities, to infer import patterns by Country-of-Origin⁶¹. We use the same data to derive:

⁵⁶ These levels are the maximum resolution available in terms of spend data, that we could use to estimate Singaporean households' emissions based on their spending patterns, which is a theoretical study.

⁵⁷ The numbers between brackets represent how many of each.

⁵⁸ The Harmonized System is an international trade product nomenclature developed by the World Customs Organization (WCO, 2022a).

⁵⁹ Source: CEPII, 2023.

⁶⁰ We selected 2101 such commodity codes, which we considered relevant for consumer goods, from which we extracted import data for 217 countries of origin. These commodity codes are mapped to consumer goods on a 1 to 1 or 1 to many bases.

⁶¹ The fundamental assumptions we are working with at this stage is that (a) local production of goods for domestic household consumption is negligible, (b) exports of imported goods are negligeable, (c)import patterns in terms of mix and weight of countries of import are the same for industrial and household consumption.



expenditure hierarchy.

- import quantities and values by Level 5 Product Items
- price proxies for Level 5 "Expenditure Items"
- the contribution of Level 5 "Expenditure Items" to Level 4 "Expenditure Item Classes", based on Level 5 "Expenditure Items" import values.

In Figure 4, we illustrate the high-level **mapping** of various datasets and key **processing steps**, ranging from the expenditure data (in orange) to commodity import data (in dark green), to Emission Factors data (in light green).



In Figure 5 we showcase an example focused on the first 2 sections of Figure 4, "Household expenses on products & services" and "Consumer products: import patterns analysis", to illustrate how we perform the mapping of commodities to the

Figure	• 5: Ex	pen	ditu	re c	anc	dco	orr	nmo	od	ities da	ıta ma	pping			
Exam	ple: B	eef	& Fri	Jits											
Source : SG	SG ho DOS HES 2	ouseho 2017-18	lds' exp	enditu	ure de	ata				Source: CEF	SG impor PII BACI 202	ts data by commodity (annual, all in 3	nport coun	tries)	
Expenditures resolution Monthly expenditures by income							tures (SGD	by inc			Harmonized		Import	Import	Inferred
Category (L1)	Sub- Category (L2)	ltem Class (L3)	lfem Type (L4)		QI	Q 2	Q 3	Q4	Q 5	ttem (L5)	System (HS) Code	H\$ Code description(1)	Value (M USD)	Quantity (M t)	average FOB pric (USD/kg
Food and non-alcoholic beverages	Food	Meat	Chilled Beef	5	3.7	3.5	4.7	4.8	8.5	Chilled Beef	Σ		94.83	6.55	14.48
											20110	Meat: of bovine [], fresh or chilled	0.55	0.07	7.70
											20120	Meat: of bovine [] with bone in [], fresh or chilled	6.75	0.49	13.83
											20120	Meat: of bovine [], boneless cuts, fresh or chilled	87.52	5.99	14.62
			Frozen Beef	0.9	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.4	0.9	Frozen Beef	γ Σ	Ginou	110.46	25.12	4.40
											20210	Meat: of bovine [], frozen	0.03	0.00	6.38
											00000	Meat: of bovine [], cuts with bone	7.50	3.01	2.49
											20220	Meat: of bovine [], boneless cuts,	102.93	22.10	4.66
Food and non-alcoholic beverages	Food	Fruits	Fresh tropical fruits	18.4	13.2	15.7	19.4	20.8	23.1	Fresh tropical fruits .	Σ	102011	174.16	171.50	16.31
										Avocadoes	80440	Fruit []: avocados, fresh or dried	17.22	4.86	3.54
										Papaya	80720	Fruit []: papaws (papayas), fresh	8.67	19.05	0.46
										Pineapple	80430	Fruit []: pineapples, fresh or dried	8.02	21.54	0.37
										Mandarins	80521	Fruit []: mandarins [], fresh or dried	14.42	10.92	1.32
										Clementines	80522	Fruit []: clementines, fresh or dried	0.01	0.01	1.76
										Lemons	80550	Fruit []: lemons [], limes [], fresh or dried	14.60	15.08	0.97
										Grapefruit	80540	Fruit, edible: grapefruit, including pomelos, fresh or dried	5.01	4.94	1.01
										Kīwis	81050	Fruit, edible: kiwifruit, fresh	20.50	5.23	3.92
										Durians	81060	Fruit, edible: durians, fresh	13.68	21.77	0.63
										Orange	80510	Fruit, edible: oranges, fresh or dried	38.27	45.41	0.84
										Guavas	80450	Fruit, edible: guavas, mangoes and mangosteens, fresh or dried	33.76	22.69	1.49
										Bananas	< Σ		29.19	56.74	0.51
											80310	Fruit, edible: plantains, fresh or dried	0.24	0.76	0.31
											80390	Fruit, edible; bananas, other than plantains, fresh or dried	28.95	55.98	0.52

Source: Graph produced by authors incorporating expenditure data from the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b) and imported commodities data from the CEPII BACI dataset (CEPII, 2023).

5.2 Singaporean household spending

To investigate the GHG emissions and consumption patterns and structure in relation to household wealth, we map both expenditures and emissions to average household **income quintiles**.

The expenditure-related data is provided at household level. To infer the data points relevant at a per-household member level, we apply the **average household size** per income quintile, extracted from the HES report⁶². This data is used in conjunction with the average expenses as well as average income per household, as summarized in Table 1.

⁶² Data extracted from the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18, Chart 1.7 "Average Household Size by Income Quintile, 2007/08-2017/19" (SG DOS, 2019a).



Table 1: Household parameters included in our calculation Income Quintiles are organized from lowest income (1) to highest income (5) Income Quintile 4 Income, expenditure and household size Income Income Income Income Average Quintile 3 Quintile 5 assumptions Quintile 1 Quintile 2 household 3 Household average number of members* 3.5 3.5 3.4 2.7 3.00 Household monthly **average expenses** (2017-2018 level, without imputed rent)* 2,569.5 3,752.4 4,811.6 5,825.4 7,572.2 4,906.7 Household monthly average expenses 5.712.2 9.084.4 5,904.5 3.295.0 4.563.9 6.866.9 (2017-2018 level, with imputed rent Household monthly average expenses 6,744.0 5,212.3 7.842.7 10.375.0 3.763.4 6.524.1 Household monthly average income (2017-2.235 5,981 9,678 14,407 26,587 11.777 2018 level) Household monthly average income (2017-2,552.7 6,831.2 11,053.7 16,454.8 30,366.1 13,451.0 2018 level)- estimated for 2023**

Source data :

*Singapore Department of Statistics (2019). Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017/18.

Minor differences may be accounted for by rounding at different computational steps.

**Data estimated by our project team incorporating 2017/18 SG DOS data and adjusting it with inflation to infer potential 202xpenditure and income levels (compounded inflation rate applied: ~14.21%)

The starting point in our analysis is therefore the data provided by the Singapore Department of Statistics (SG DOS), gathered through the 2017/18 Singapore Household Expenditure Survey⁶³, which was the most recently available at the time this research was conducted. For future bodies of research focusing on 2023 or subsequent years of study, we recommend using newer reports as and when they become available. This would lead to more accurate results as projections based on inflation indexing for expenditure or income would no longer be required, and assumptions on the average number of household members would be based on more recent survey results.

The key parameters we considered in our calculations are summarized in Figure 6. The data covers **monthly expenses** reported by a statistically relevant sample of Singapore households, grouped in 5 income quintiles⁶⁴. We have processed the data to reflect in Figure 6 the breakdown of expenditures by Expenditure Category, in order to further investigate the correlation with estimated GHG emissions.

⁶³ Data retrieved from Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b).

⁶⁴ For income quintile 1 (i.e., the lowest income quintile), the average monthly expenditures exceed average monthly income by ~334.5 SGD (excluding imputed rent). In our interpretation, we attribute the difference to the demographic of the lowest 20% income group, a third of which are headed by individuals aged 65 and above. "Households may finance their expenditure through irregular receipts such as proceeds from the sale of properties, lump—sum CPF withdrawals, insurance claims or ad-hoc transfers that are not part of their regular income" (SG DOS, 2019a). Notably as well, we do not include Income Tax expenditures either in the expenditure or in the GHG emissions analysis.





Figure 7 allows for an easier examination of structural changes in the expenditure composition across income quintiles⁶⁵. Based on the average increase of expenses from one income quintile to the next, the fastest growing category is "**Transport**", with an average increase of 51.46%, followed by "**Miscellaneous Goods and Services**" at 39.71%, and "**Educational Services**" at 30.76%. We later on compare this dynamic across Expenditure Categories with the average variations we see in estimated associated emissions.



⁶⁵ Source: Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18, Executive Summary (SG DOS, 2019). Datapoints indexed with inflation for updating to 2023.



5.3 Singaporean household carbon footprint

When applying the emission factors that we contextualized through the algorithm described in previous sections to projected average household expenditures in 2023, the resulting estimated household carbon footprint is 3.01 t CO_2e /month, equivalent to **36.12 t CO_2e/year**. By income quintile, this carbon footprint ranges from 1.64 t CO_2e /month (19.68 t CO_2e /year) for the lowest income households, to 4.36 t CO_2e /month (52.32 t CO_2e /year) for the highest income ones⁶⁶.

For an average household size of 3 members (as described in section 2 Table 1), we estimate the average **Individual Carbon Footprint** to be **12.034 t CO₂e/year**, as displayed in Figure 8. This is significantly above the global average of 4.7 t CO₂ per capita (IEA, 2023), which is equivalent to 6.18 t CO₂e⁶⁷. For individual consumers the annual carbon footprint ranges from **6.56 t CO₂e/year** for **Quintile 1**, to **19.37 t CO₂e/year** for **Quintile 5**.



This carbon footprint **includes** emissions from all goods and services covered by the survey. Emissions related to the international transportation of imported goods are allocated to the respective goods' expenditure categories, based on the methodology described earlier.

There are relevant actual and implicit purchases that are **excluded from calculations**, as the estimation is based on the available expenditure data leveraged from the HES survey. For instance, our calculation does not include real estate purchases or investments, as they are not covered by the underlying HES data. The consumption subsidized by the government is also not included, as the related expenditure is not

⁶⁶ The full computational methodology to derive this number is described in our companion whitepaper

[&]quot;Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework".

⁶⁷To convert CO₂ to CO₂e we have considered a global average contribution of ~76% of CO₂ to GHGs (C2ES, 2023).



directly reported by end consumers. The related emissions can be estimated through different methodologies and can be in scope of future bodies of work.

5.4 Household expenses versus emissions – income comparison

Based on our estimations of average expenditures and income, we see a steep increase in income, at an average of ~90.7% increase from one income quintile to the next. Expenditures and emissions grow at a relatively slower pace than income, at 28-29% average increase across quintiles.

While we have few data points for statistical analysis, the high-level view in Figure 9 offers a few takeaways that can open the door to more granular household consumption studies.

Firstly, the quantity effect stands out, as expected: the higher the income, the higher the expenditures and consequently the higher emissions the per household or individual. This result is consistent with findings in Ivanova et al. (2016),whereby "elasticities suggest а significant robust and relationship between households' expenditure and their environmental impact".

Subject to the assumptions and the uncertainty drivers detailed in our companion Whitepaper, the disproportionate associated emissions, and consequently negative climate impact, of higher income households is clear.



Source: Graph produced by authors using the proposed GHG emissions estimation algorithm, incorporating expenditure and income data from the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b) and applying inflation indexing (assuming a 14.21% compounded inflation rate) to estimate 2023 levels. Income ranging from the lowest (Income Quintile 1), to highest (Income Quintile 5).

The average estimated Monetary EF for consumer expenditure does vary by income quintile, due to structural differences in the consumption mix for each group of households:



- Income quintile 1: 0.43 kg CO₂e/SGD spent
- Income quintile 2: 0.47 kg CO₂e/SGD spent
- Income quintile 3: 0.47 kg CO₂e/SGD spent
- Income quintile 4: 0.45 kg CO₂e/SGD spent
- Income quintile 5: 0.42 kg CO₂e/SGD spent

In the next sections, we are examining the emissions drivers under each category of expenses and also testing a few sustainable consumption scenarios to understand how they would change the households or individual emissions footprint.

On detecting **quality effects** deriving from differences in expenditure composition across income quintiles, one important limitation to re-emphasize is our dependency on publicly available EFs that our project could efficiently retrieve at this stage. As we do not have EFs broadly available for a granularity deeper than product/service level as described in the earlier sections, we cannot go into brand or SKU level granularity, and instead we are constraint to apply the same EFs for all products and services of the same type, consumed by all households.

We note that **brand and SKU level differences** within the same product category can account for very different Monetary EFs (emissions/SGD)⁶⁸. More eco-conscious brands and clean technology in fact can be more expensive. However, at this point, this limitation is systemic and will likely affect similar efforts to develop a household carbon footprinting algorithm⁶⁹. These insights gaps are unavoidable until emissions reporting is adopted and standardized at a greater scale, and manufacturer level/brand level/SKU level carbon labels are in place, allowing them to move away from product average emissions.

Regarding broader **structural effects**, different emissions categories accelerate at a different pace when moving up on the income ladder.

		Month	nly House	hold Estir	nated En	nissions (kg CO2e)		Increase	e from pre	eceding (ວ uintile(%)			
		Income	Income Income Income Income							Income Income Income Income						
		Quintile 1	Quintile 2	Quintile 3	Quintile 4	e Quintile 5	e Av erage	Quintile 1	e Quintile 2	Quintile	Quintile 4	Quintile	Average			
Г	FOOD AND NON -ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES	357	434	490	469	443	439	-	22%	13%	-4%	-5%	6%			
	FOOD SERVING SERVICES	354	568	686	784	860	650	-	61%	21%	14%	10%	26%			
	TRANSPORT	195	350	514	677	971	541	-	80%	47%	32%	43%	51%			
	HOU SING AND UTILITIES	177	214	235	263	325	243	-	21%	10%	12%	23%	17%			
	HEALTH	128	138	174	182	229	170	-	7%	26%	5%	26%	16%			
	RECREATION AND CULTURE	101	189	273	353	481	280	-	87%	44%	30%	36%	49%			
	FU RNISHINGS, HOU SEHOLD M AINTENANCE	85	133	167	189	292	173	-	56%	26%	13%	54%	37%			
	CLOTHING AND FOOTWEAR	83	170	218	287	345	220	-	107%	28%	32%	20%	47%			

Table 2: GHG emissions across income quintiles - top 8 Expenditure Categories

Source: Graph produced by authors using the proposed GHG emissions estimation algorithm, incorporating expenditure data from the Singapore Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b) and applying inflation indexing (assuming a 14.21% compounded inflation rate) to estimate 2023 levels. Income ranging from the lowest (Income Quintile 1), to highest (Income Quintile 5).

⁶⁸ Spending 400 SGD instead of 200 SGD for a coffee machine does not necessarily mean the emissions related to buying this product are double. It could in fact be the other way around if the more expensive item is so due to eco-friendly considerations (Pottier et al., 2020).

⁶⁹ Volume, structural and quality effects are covered extensively by Pottier et al., 2020 in a similar study on France household emissions.



Table 2 and Figure 10 provide a clear illustration on the increase of discretionary spending across income quintiles, where we see "**Transport**", "**Recreation and Culture**" and "**Clothing and Footwear**" advancing at the fastest pace with higher income, at 50.61%, 49.25% and respectively 46.53% respectively.



5.5 Emissions drivers

Beyond the relatively straight forward quantity effect, we also observe changes in the weightage of various expenditure categories' contribution in the total expenses and total GHG emissions. This is due to the different **carbon intensities** of products and services that fall within each Expenditure Category (expressed and kg CO₂e/SGD spent), and the different consumption pattern of each income group. Each Expenditure Category is a combination of multiple products and services, for which the individual product's carbon intensity and contribution to the consumption mix can be vastly different by category, as showcased in Figure 11.



Notably "**Imputed Rent**" switches place completely in the hierarchy – it has the highest contribution to household monthly expenses (17%), but it has the lowest contribution to GHG emissions (lowest single digit %). This effect is primarily due to the original EFs attributable to Imputed Rent that we were able to retrieve and process for Singapore contextualization. Given the contribution of residential constructions to global emissions, and the significant share of household expenses allocated to ownership or rental of residential space, we recommend future in-depth research on the attribution of emissions to real estate property owners or renters⁷⁰. Similarly, **Recreation and Culture** and **Transport** are also 2 categories warranting further examination, as both can include air flights (either as standalone expenditures or packaged holidays), which can significantly increase the carbon footprint of individuals and households⁷¹.



inflation indexing (assuming a 14.21% compounded inflation rate) to estimate 2023 levels.

At the other end of the spectrum is the "Food Serving Services" category – while it accounts for 14% of the estimated average household's expenses, it contributes disproportionately more to its GHG emissions at 22%. This is explained by the higher

 ⁷⁰ We recommend including important elements such as full embodied carbon of the residential property, its likely useful life, and the share that can be attributed to households depending on the size or number of rooms.
⁷¹ Several factors such as distance, destination, economy or premium classes for the flights and length of stay can influence the accuracy of the end estimation.
carbon intensity of cooked meals (expressed as kg CO₂e/SGD spent), relative to other expenditure categories. For "**Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages**", the pattern is similar – this category accounts for **6%** of expenditures and **15%** of emissions.

Collectively, food related consumption seems to have high carbon intensity, whether the consumption happens at home or while eating out. However, this observation equally points to a need to further refine and contextualize the emission factors for restaurant foods that we were able to source. On the long tail of the carbon intensity spectrum, we see items such as Imputed Rent, Communication, Education and Accommodation Services.

For example, this dynamic is at play for "**Educational Services**" category (which moves from the 8th top contributor to expenses, to being the 10th top contributor to GHG emissions), and "**Communication**" category (which, however, due to its low % contribution to both Expenditures and GHG Emissions, features less prominently on either ranking).

5.5.1 Carbon intensity of Expenditure Categories

As expected, the carbon intensity of the Expenditure Categories is aligned to the dynamic we saw in Figure 11. Per our estimation, and subject to the assumptions and uncertainty mentioned before, the Expenditure Categories that are most carbon intensive on a per SGD basis⁷² are "**Clothing and Footwear**", with an estimated average EF of 1.57 kg CO₂e/SGD, "**Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages**", with an estimated average EF of 0.98 kg CO₂e/SGD, and "**Food Serving Services**", at 0.7 kg CO₂e/SGD. On the other end of the spectrum, "**Imputed Rent**", "**Miscellaneous Goods and Services**" and "**Educational Services**" feature EFs of 0.01 kg CO₂e/SGD, 0.14 kg CO₂e/SGD, and 0.16 kg CO₂e/SGD, respectively⁷³.

Notably, the average estimated EF for **Singapore residents' consumption**, computed as the average of all GHG emissions estimated for all Expenditure Categories (L1), divided by all expenditures, is at **0.446 kg CO₂e per SGD**.

In Figure 12 we provide a comparison between the **Monetary EF for each Expenditure Category** (L1), relative to the average Monetary EF for overall consumer expenditure in Singapore (which we estimated at 0.446 kg CO₂e/SGD).

⁷² An important phenomenon to call out again is that the carbon intensity on a per dollar basis versus on a per unit basis may move in opposite directions. Prices can significantly dilute (if they are high) or elevate (if they are low) the relative carbon intensity of different items.

⁷³ An additional Expenditure Category included in the survey is "Other Non-Assignable Expenditure", with an estimated Emission Factor of 1.12 kg CO₂e/SGD. The SG DOS HES 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b) includes only 2 elements for it, across all levels of resolution: "POCKET ALLOWANCES FOR CHILDREN", and "OTHER NON-ASSIGNABLE EXPENDITURE". The biggest contribution in terms of carbon intensity is injected by "POCKET ALLOWANCES FOR CHILDREN", to which we have associated an original Emission Factor from UK DEFRA 2020, relevant for "Canteens", which post currency conversion and inflation adjustment yields 1.14 kg CO₂e/SGD. For future studies and as an opportunity for improvement, we recommend considering alternative estimated EFs instead (such as the EF for "Food Serving Services", which is of 0.7 kg CO₂e/SGD). The contribution of this particular Expenditure Category to the total Household Carbon Footprint is however relatively less impactful than other categories, at ~351.78 kg CO₂e/year/Household.





5.5.2 Variation between income quintiles

To examine differences of carbon intensity by Expenditure Category and between income quintiles, we plot the average EF by Expenditure Category in descending order, as showcased in Figure 13. We use standard deviation to measure the distance from the respective Expenditure Category average EF. Across income quintiles, we see variations in the carbon intensity of each Expenditure Category, accounted for by structural effects triggered by differences in **consumption mix** for each Expenditure Category due to increases in income.



Figure 13: Variation between income quintiles



The Expenditure Categories where we see some of the largest variations across income quintiles are "**Clothing and Footwear**" (for which EFs are between 1.5 to 1.6 kg CO₂e/SGD), "**Food Serving Services**" (with EFs between 0.69 to 0.75 kg CO₂e/SGD) "**Furnishings, Household Equipment and Routing Household Maintenance**" (with EFs between 0.45 kg CO₂e/SGD to 0.52 kg CO₂e/SGD), and "**Housing and Utilities**" (for which EFs range from 0.39 to 0.61 kg CO₂e/SGD)⁷⁴. The drivers of these variations pertain to the differences in the mix of products and services associated with each Expenditure Category across different income quintiles.

⁷⁴ For Housing and Utilities, spend structure varies significantly across Income quintiles especially for "Rentals paid by tenants", which are ~8 times higher in income quintile 5 versus Income Quintile 1. Therefore, the relatively lower Monetary EF of this Expenditure Item lowers the carbon intensity on a per dollar basis for the higher earning households.



5.5.3 Variation within Expenditure Categories

To examine the breadth of variation of EFs within the same Expenditure Categories, we plotted again the individual Emission Factors on a log scale for easier visualization and used log inverse of standard deviation to measure the distance from the Expenditure Categories average of EFs subordinated to each, as illustrated in Figure 14.



We observe the following variations within each Expenditure Category:

- In "Clothing and Footwear" (L1) we have 47 Expenditure Items (L5), with 80 associated EFs ranging from 0.02 kg CO₂e/SGD to 2.48 kg CO₂e/SGD (around an average of 1.57 kg CO₂e/SGD).
- In "Food and Non-alcoholic Beverages" we have 142 Expenditure Items (L5), with 397 associated EFs, ranging from 0.21 to 3.34 kg CO₂e/SGD (around an average of 0.98 kg CO₂e/SGD).
- In "Furnishings, Household Equipment and Routing Household Maintenance" (L1) we have 63 Expenditure Items (L5), with 139 associated EFs, ranging from 0.04 to 2,92 kg CO₂e/SGD (around an average of 0.53 kg CO₂e/SGD).

In "Housing and Utilities" (L1) we have 12 Expenditure Items (L5), with 15 associated EFs, ranging from 0.07 to 3.53 kg CO₂e/SGD (around an average of 0.49 kg CO₂e/SGD).

The drivers of these variations pertain to the differences in the mix of products and services associated with each Expenditure Category, irrespective of household income quintile, which we will also discuss at length in subsequent section 6. "Emissions analysis for the largest expenditure categories".



6. Breaking down individual carbon footprints in Singapore

Our study involves different methodologies for estimating GHG emissions related to the delivery of services and respectively the lifecycle of finished goods (for which we cover in a differentiated way production, transportation, warehousing and retail operations, and waste treatment). As detailed in the previous sections, we are attributing all **upstream** emissions (related to sourcing raw materials, manufacturing, international transportation and domestic logistics), as well as **downstream** emissions (related to waste management), to the end consumers⁷⁵.

In order to understand the key items driving overall emissions, we **decomposed** all emission categories (corresponding to expenditure categories), down to 4 levels of resolution. We found the following key contributions (Figure 15):



• Food Serving Services, accounting for 22% of total emissions, driven by emissions associated with restaurants and hawker centers

• **Transport**, accounting for **18%** of total emissions, driven by petrol for personal cars as well as air transport

 Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages, accounting for 15% of total emissions, driven by animalbased products and air transportation for imported items

• Recreation and culture, accounting for 9% of total emissions, mostly driven by overseas vacations via air transportation

• Housing and Utilities, accounting for **8%** of total emissions, mostly driven by electricity

The results are in line with

global studies finding that household GHG emissions are mostly contributed by mobility, shelter and food (Ivanova et al., 2016, Hertwich and Peters, 2009).

⁷⁵ Emissions mapped strictly to the "Use" phase in a product lifecycle are considered to be null due to the fact that the drivers of those emissions would likely be captured in other consumption expenses – such as electricity for domestic appliances (which is captured and accounted for in the "Housing and Utilities" category), or petrol for vehicles (which is captured in the "Transport" category).



6.1 What can consumers do to reduce their carbon footprints?

In this section, we investigate how an average individual's carbon footprint could be optimized by making **different consumption and lifestyle choices**. We identified a few such choices that are frequently mentioned as potential ways to reduce carbon footprints, such as prioritizing local food sources, switching to plant-based diets, taking public transportation, or a combination of these lifestyle changes.

We consider the following specific lifestyle choices in the context of Singaporean consumers: (1) prioritizing foods **regionally produced** in ASEAN countries⁷⁶, (2) and (3) switching to a **lacto-vegetarian** or a **vegan** diet respectively, (4) opting consistently for mass **public transportation**, and (5) making several impactful changes all at once.

Each of these different choices yields a reduction in carbon footprints. A diet prioritizing regional food sources would reduce the carbon footprint of the average Singaporean resident by an estimated $0.636 \pm CO_2e$ /year. Other types of diets would yield an event bigger reduction: a vegan diet would reduce the carbon footprint by an estimated $1.153 \pm CO_2e$ /year (9.58% of the average footprint of Singaporean residents), while a lacto-vegetarian diet would yield an estimated reduction of $0.871t CO_2e$ /year (7.2%). Switching to mass public transportation would reduce carbon



⁷⁶ We do recommend for future testing looking into scenarios of locally produced food (within Singapore). Given Singapore's imports dependence, and since one of our assumptions allowing for computational efficiency was to assume 0 local production, we only tested for now the "regional sourcing" scenario.



footprint by an estimated ~1.085 t CO₂e/year (8.9%). Figure 16 provides a graphical summary of these scenarios.

Going all in on multiple environmentally friendly choices such as going for a plantbased diet, consistently taking mass public transport instead of riding or owning a private car, and sourcing foods regionally yields the greatest benefits in terms of emissions saved, of **2.38 t CO₂e/year**, or almost 20% of an average Singaporean resident's carbon footprint. We present a more detailed discussion of each lifestyle change in the following section.



6.2 What if we switched to a lacto-vegetarian diet?

The first scenario we modelled is for an average Singaporean resident, switching to a lacto-vegetarian diet, which excludes any item under the "Meat" or "Fish and Seafood" Expenditure Item Classes (L3), but includes dairy and eggs.

The result at the end of the simulation shows a reduction of **0.871 t CO₂e/year** in GHG emissions (Figure 17).



methodological From a perspective, for changes in the "Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages" Expenditure (L1), our data Category modelling approach involved taking out all "Meat" and "Fish Seafood" and related expenditure SGD amounts, and redistributing them to "Vegetables", "Milk, Cheese and Eggs" and "Breads and Cereals" Expenditure Item Classes (L3)77.

For "Food Serving Services" Expenditure Category (L1), we operated the changes at Expenditure Item (L5) level, as distinction between the vegetarian and nonvegetarian choices is only evident at this level (without associated SGD insights). We removed the non-vegetarian dishes, and kept only the vegetarian ones in the

calculation, with increased assumed dish weights in the calculation⁷⁸.

⁷⁷ The environmental benefits of eliminating Meat and Seafood from households' diets is partially offset by the GHG emissions associated with products like milk and cheese.

⁷⁸ More specifically, we excluded the following dishes: "Restaurant meal containing meat", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Chicken dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Lamb dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Seafood dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Beef dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Pork dish", "Restaurant dish - Non Vegetarian pizza", "Fast Food meals - Beef Burger", "Fast food meals - Desserts (Ice-Cream)", "Fast Food meals - Drinks - Non-Alcoholic (Coffee w Milk)", "Fast Food meals - Non-Alcoholic - Soft Drinks", "Hawker Centers - Meal containing meat" "Hawker Centers - Chicken Rice", "Hawker Center - Chicken Nasi Biryani". We incorporated in our calculation dietary

preferences insights from Tan, 2023.



6.3 How about if we went fully vegan?

Prominent academic studies point towards the importance of dietary changes, surfacing evidence that even the lowest impact animal products typically exceed plant-based substitutes in terms of associated emissions, globally (Poore and Nemecek, 2018), as well as specifically for Singapore (Tan et al., 2020). Following these studies, the second scenario we modelled is for an average individual, switching to a strictly plant based (vegan) diet, which excludes animal-based products, and instead is rich in vegetables and cereals.



In the data modelling we took a similar approach as in the above exercise, assigning all expenditures associated with "Meat", "Fish and Seafood", and "Milk, Cheese and Eggs" and redistributed them to "Vegetables" and "Breads and Cereals".

For Food Servicing Services, we operated the changes at Expenditure Item (L5) level, since, as in the scenario studied above, the distinction between vegetarian and non-vegetarian choices is only evident at this level (without associated spend information). We removed the non-vegan dishes and kept only the vegan ones in the calculation, with increased assumed dish weights in the calculation⁷⁹.

Figure 18 shows a significant

GHG emissions reduction of **1.153 t CO₂e/year** associated with this lifestyle change, consistent with prior studies.

⁷⁹ More specifically, we excluded the following vegetarian dishes: "Restaurant meal containing meat", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Chicken dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Lamb dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Seafood dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Beef dish", "Restaurant dish - Portion of Pork dish", "Restaurant dish - Non Vegetarian pizza", "Fast Food meals - Beef Burger", "Fast food meals - Desserts (Ice-Cream)", "Fast Food meals - Drinks - Non-Alcoholic (Coffee w Milk)", "Fast Food meals - Non-Alcoholic - Soft Drinks", "Hawker Centers - Meal containing meat", "Hawker Centers - Chicken Rice", "Hawker Center - Chicken Nasi Biryani". In addition to these we excluded non-vegan items: "Restaurant drinks - Non-alcoholic (Coffee w Milk)", "Fast food meals - Desserts (Ice-Cream)", "Hawker centers drinks - Coffee/tea w milk". For pizza we used a vegan pizza instead of the mix used in the mainstream current carbon footprint analysis. We incorporated in our calculation dietary preferences insights from Tan, 2023.



6.4 How about using public transportation instead of driving personal cars?

Another significant source of GHG emissions reduction, well studied in the literature, arises from using mass public transportation as much as possible, instead of using and/or buying private vehicles. In an urban environment with highly efficient, affordable and available mass transport infrastructure like Singapore, this could be a realistic lifestyle change for many residents.



Methodologically, we redistributed all SGD expenses related to Expenditure Item Types (L4) "Petrol" and "Diesel" evenly to the public transport Expenditure Item Types "Bus fares" and "MRT/LRT train fares"80. We also opted to eliminate completely the monthly expenditures associated with buying vehicles⁸¹, as well as expenditures related to personal vehicles⁸². To keep this lifestyle choice realistic, we the opt to keep expenditures on "Taxi fares" and "Hiring of vehicles" to account for unforeseen personal transportation requirements.

The estimated carbon footprint reduction associated with this

change is 1.085 t CO₂e/year for the average Singaporean resident (Figure 19).

⁸⁰ We used at this stage a 1-1 proportion when attributing expenses from vehicle fuels to public transportation, on grounds that several household members may need to travel and incur separate charges when using the bus or MRT rather than travelling together in the same car. Also depending on key location addresses and bus/MRT connectivity, public transport routes may be longer. We recommend studying these effects along with price/km differences between private and public transportation to determine a more contextualized attribution ratio.

⁸¹ We eliminated from the calculation the SGD amounts associated with Expenditure Item Types "New cars and other 4-wheel vehicles", "Used cars and other 4-wheel vehicles", "Motorcycles".

⁸² We eliminated from the calculation the SGD amounts associated with Expenditure Item Types "Brake and transmission fluids, coolants", "Other fuels and lubricants for personal transport equipment", "General repairs and maintenance of cars", "Repairs and maintenance of motorcycles and scooters", "Fees for driving lessons/licence", "Car inspection fee", "Parking fees", "Toll charges", "Road tax and other services". Our calculation considers average public trip parameters from Moovit Insights, 2023, as well as pricing data from Singapore SBS Transit Link, 2024a and 2024b.



6.5 How about sourcing foods from closer to home?

For consumers in most countries, switching to a vegetarian or vegan diet could by far outweigh in terms of benefits switching to **locally sourced produce** – whether the meat is produced by the farmer next door or in a facility far away, most carbon embodied in a meal would come from the steak itself (Ritchie, 2020). This is not the case in Singapore with its geographical position as an island nation and its high dependence on imports, including for highly perishable food items (which we assume to be air shipped). Transportation is an important consideration for food products' carbon footprints, as highlighted in other academic studies focused on Singapore (Tan et al., 2020).



estimate 2023 levels.

We therefore investigate the impact of prioritizing food items originating regionally in **ASEAN countries**⁸³.

Methodologically, we replace food imports from non-ASEAN countries of origin, with food imports from ASEAN countries (proportionately with their current weights within the total imported quantities for the respective commodities)⁸⁴.

It is plausible that imports ASEAN countries from displace relatively less carbon intensive options from other countries of origin⁸⁵. Indeed, looking at structure of the new emissions, Embodied Carbon for Foods (accounting for the lifecycle stages covering raw materials sourcing up until the point of export)

shows an increase of 9.24%. Nevertheless, this effect is offset by the reduction in international shipping emissions (arising primarily from air transportation), which are

⁸⁴ We consider the Country-of-Origin to be the country-of-import for commodities associated with respective products, as defined through HS Commodity Codes and as captured in the CEPII BACI database (CEPII, 2023).

⁸³ Defined as Malaysia, Brunei, Indonesia, Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, Cambodia, Laos, Myanmar.

⁸⁵ For the same products and judging by differences in Emission Factors for different countries of origin. Source: A*STAR, Deloitte, Temasek, 2019.

lower by 85.57%, accounting for by the shorter import distances. The GHG emissions for Foods thus decrease by 20.85% (0.365 t CO_2e /year).

We then assume that this reduction would also apply to food services, by applying half of this reduction percentage (i.e. 10.43%) to the carbon footprints of "**Food Services**"⁸⁶, which results in a decrease of 0.271 kg CO₂e/year.

In total, this lifestyle change would reduce the typical Singaporean resident's carbon footprint by **0.636 t CO₂e/year** (Figure 20), which illustrates the potential case for "eating regional". The reduction calculation itself offers plenty of opportunities for further refinement, but we find the current result points towards the importance of sourcing food items from nearby countries, or, potentially even better, locally. We infer that "eating local" may yield further incremental emissions savings, and the enhanced food production capabilities would also strengthen domestic food security especially in the face of upcoming climate adaptation imperatives, while supporting the local business community.

⁸⁶ We do so to account for the fact that many of the same food ingredients that are bought by households are also procured by restaurants, hawker center and other eateries. A similar import pattern would then apply. For meals eaten in restaurants or cafes, computing the impact of sourcing raw ingredients regionally would require a value chain study which may be restaurant or even meal specific. This exercise is presumably effort and time intensive even for a relatively smaller country like Singapore. We opted instead to partially leverage the reduction in emissions we have seen for food items.



6.6 How about taking a more ambitious approach?

Next, we investigate how individual consumers can make several significant changes towards a more sustainable lifestyle. The combined impact of using public transportation and shared rides, switching to a vegan diet, and prioritizing for consumption regionally sourced foods (from ASEAN countries) is an estimated reduction of **2.38 t CO₂e/year** for the average Singaporean resident (Figure 21).

Figure 21: Switching to several changes at once

"All in" scenario: Vegan diet, with regionally sourced foods (ASEAN countries) and public transportation



We observe a reduction of 28% in emissions associated with "Food Serving Services", 50% in "Transport", and 35% in "Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages". Notably, we see a reduction 91% of in international shipping emissions (from to 594.49 to 52.43 kg $CO_2e/year$), accounted for by reducing the export distance for food items.

Each of the lifestyle changes may have underlying offsetting effects, which is why the combined reduction is lower than the sum of the emissions savings across each of these lifestyle changes alone (i.e., 1.09 t CO₂e for switching to a vegan diet, 1.08 t CO₂e for prioritizing public transportation, and 0.64 t

CO₂e for sourcing food items regionally).

This scenario is not fully comparable with the others as the total monetary base of monthly expenditures is decreased (e.g., we assume all expenses associated with purchasing vehicles and paying related fees are not spent elsewhere – which is the approach we took when we examine the sustainable transportation options scenario). Nevertheless, the savings in terms of carbon emission (~20% of average emission) is larger than in terms of expenditure (6.65% of average expenditure) for the average Singaporean resident.



6.7 Lifestyle changes across income quintiles

To examine how the impact of these sustainable lifestyle changes varies across income quintiles, we provide a summarized view in Figure 22.

For comparison purposes, we also bring into the picture three important benchmarks:

- The current **baseline average** of **12.034 t CO₂e** per capita per year (computed by applying the average EFs as estimated through our algorithm, to the average expenditures in Singapore as estimated for 2023 (baseline scenario).
- The global average of 4.7 t CO₂ per capita per year in 2021 (IEA, 2023), which for comparability purposes we translate to 6.18 t CO₂e per capita per year assuming CO₂ contributes 76% to global GHGs (The World Bank, 2023, C2ES, 2024).
- The GHG emissions per capita aligned to a global warming of maximum 1.5°C (Paris Agreement aligned pathway) of 2.3 t CO₂ per capita per year by 2030⁸⁷, which for comparability purposes we translate to 3.18 t CO₂e per capita per year under the same assumption that CO₂ contributes 76% to global GHGs.



Income ranging from the lowest (Income Quintile 1), to highest (Income Quintile 5).

Thresholds, assuming CO₂ has a contribution of 76% to GHGs globally (C2ES, 2024, The World Bank, 2023): **3.02** \dagger CO₂e ~2.3 \dagger CO₂ per capita by 2030 (Gore T., IEEP, SEI, Oxfam, 2021, 1.5°C global warming pathway) **6.18** \dagger CO₂e ~4.7 \dagger CO₂ per capita current global average (IEA, 2023)

⁸⁷ Lower boundary of the global per capita emissions range compatible with a 1.5°C global warming pathway (Gore, T, IEEP, SEI, Oxfam, 2021).



In Figure 22 we can observe both the opportunities and limitations that individual consumers face when trying to take meaningful climate change actions. On the bright side, we clearly see the potential of reducing the carbon footprint related to consumption through lifestyle choices. On the darker side, we can directly see the adverse impact on the environment of any **increase in welfare** as well. In the baseline (current) scenario, average Singaporean residents have associated emissions which are above the global average of 6.18 t CO₂e/capita (IEA, 2023), and twice above an ambitious Paris Agreement compatible target of 3.02 t CO₂e/capita (Gore, T, 2021). Even if significant measures of sustainable lifestyle were adopted by all households (the scenario presented in Figure 22 utmost to the right), higher earning households would still have a more than double carbon footprint than the lowest income ones, which would barely make it below the line of global average carbon footprints.

This leads us to 2 conclusions, both hard to take. First, reducing significantly the carbon footprint for Singaporean residents therefore would not only mean changing what is being consumed, but also how much. Average to high income households would have to **scale back** to the lowest income ones. In a country with the infrastructure and public services that Singapore offers, this would still mean a safe, comfortable and dignified standard of living.

Secondly, changing the structure of, and lowering the level of consumption, even by making relatively radical lifestyle changes, is not enough. Decarbonizing **global value chains** and the real economy re-emerge as indispensable to achieving our climate ambitions. While the impact of individuals in this space may be indirect, it may still be effective, if not crucial, in the long run. Intentionally inquiring about and selecting climate-friendly products and brands would de facto sponsor the more sustainable producers and penalize the less sustainable ones. The demand for emissions disclosure through **carbon labelling**⁸⁸ could effectively enhance the supply of sustainability tracking, management and reporting at company level.

Our hope and drive behind this Whitepaper is, therefore, that education and accountability could have ripple effects upwards across value chains, offering a stimulus and the market signal for enhanced investments in cleaner energy, greener technology, and more broadly available data.

⁸⁸ A definition of carbon labelling found in the literature covers emissions covering products lifecycle of production to use (Taufique et al., 2022). We would like to encourage carbon labelling that covers at least the production and distribution segments of products lifecycle that may be easier for producers to quantify absent consumption related assumptions.



7. Conclusion

While the science supporting the assertion that global warming is caused by human activities is unequivocal, the actions that each individual and company can and need to take are the subject of **heated debates** – around who needs to act first, how to act in concert, how the necessary data and technology may not yet exist (or be economically viable), and so on.

The bitter reality is that we all need to make a sacrifice today, in order to protect the next generations from the worst effects of irreversible climate change. In front of a looming global catastrophe, the difficulty of advancing a more sustainable lifestyle agenda – e.g., renouncing favorite dishes or owning a car – exemplifies the urgent need for **sustainability education**.

We argue that the cornerstone of such education is **actionable information**. There is increasing evidence that the majority of GHG emissions occur upstream in the supply chain for some categories of consumption (Ingwersen, W. and M. Li, 2020). To reduce such emissions via consumer actions, we need more granular, comparable and easily accessible information on the impact of different consumption choices.

The sustainability data ecosystem, particularly around GHG emissions tracking, reporting and benchmarking, is still plagued by scarcity, heterogeneity, and uncertainty. Nevertheless, we perform an analysis of **consumer carbon footprint** using available data for Singaporean households and find that food, transport, recreation and utilities account for most of their carbon footprints. We also identify various opportunities to reduce individual carbon footprints: prioritizing foods sourced from closer to home (from ASEAN countries), opting for public instead of private transportation, and switching to a plant-based diet.

The **call to action** from this study is broad and deep. At the consumer level, even the lowest emitting households in Singapore – those with the lowest levels of income – would have to reduce their carbon footprint by almost half to have a chance of keeping within a "carbon allowance" aligned to a 1.5 C global warming pathway. Even making several environmentally ambitious changes at once (i.e. a combination of impactful lifestyle changes as we explored above) may not be sufficient to be aligned with the pathway.

For expenditures that are both highly carbon intensive and difficult to avoid within the local context, awareness could drive more extensive usage of **personal carbon offsets**, of which there are increasing number of options offered by products and services providers. It could also facilitate the materialization of personal carbon quotas and the scale-up of personal carbon trading platforms (Wang et al., 2024).

Equally important, **incentives** through price signals, such as a potential carbon tax applied to households, could accelerate behavioural changes. At a national and international level, the calls for policy makers, financial institutions and industry to initiate and support meaningful climate actions emerge as loudly as ever before – without extensive and rapid decarbonization of the real economy, carbon emissions will continue to be embedded in value chains of consumption items.



Going forward, with the sustainability data ecosystem growing at a fast pace, the more stringent climate regulation across jurisdictions, and the increasing body of research offering insights into carbon footprinting methodologies, we hope that extensive recording and reporting across the value chains will enable **carbon labelling** for products. Until then, the proliferation of multi-region environmentally extended input output (**MREE-IO**) models for major exporter countries would offer enhanced data points that can be used in future bodies of work for more accurate estimations of emission factors and product carbon footprints.

Equally, the enhancement of national, contextualized, consumption-based **emission factors** repositories, is a powerful step forward towards enabling company level GHG emissions tracking, management and reporting at greater scale. At the time of publication of this study, we were happy to see the recent development and launch of the Singapore Emissions Factors Registry through the NetZeroHub.SG free digital platform in 2024 (Singapore Business Federation, 2024). As similar initiatives appear and expand their scope fueled by joint efforts from Academia, Government agencies and the private sector, the sustainability data ecosystem can evolve to a point where emissions factors data is more credible, reliable, easily retrievable and efficiently usable by all parties vested in understanding the carbon footprint of what they produce, distribute or consume.

Last but not least, in disseminating this information to individual consumers, there is a crucial role to be played by **financial institutions**. These entities could offer GHG emissions estimates associated with consumers' financial transactions, which would facilitate environmental impact education with added credibility. Some financial institutions (e.g., banks, credit card providers) are offering basic versions of such products, which would benefit from the addition of personalized targets and feedback, peer benchmarking, and carbon offsetting options – or even direct incentives such as preferential financing terms for greener consumers and borrowers.



References

- 1. Afionis, S., Sakai, M., Scott, K., Barrett, J. & Gouldson, A. (2017). Consumption-based carbon accounting: does it have a future? WIREs Clim Change, Volume 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.438
- 2. Air Miles Calculator. (2024). Retrieved in June 2024 at <u>https://www.airmilescalculator.com/</u>
- A*STAR Singapore Institute of Manufacturing Technology, Deloitte, Temasek (2019). Environmental Impact of Key Food Items in Singapore. Retrieved in October 2023 at <u>https://www.ecosperity.sg/content/dam/ecosperityaem/en/reports/Environmental-Impact-of-Key-Food-Items-in-Singapore_Oct2019.pdf</u>
- Barrett, J., Peters, G., Wiedmann, T., Scott, K., Lenzen, M., Roelich, K., & Le Quéré, C. (2013). Consumption-based GHG emission accounting: a UK case study. Climate Policy, Volume 13(4), p. 451–470. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2013.788858
- Bergquist, P., Marlon, J. R., Goldberg, M. H., Gustafson, A., Rosenthal, S. A., & Leiserowitz, A. (2022). Information about the human causes of global warming influences causal attribution, concern, and policy support related to global warming. *Thinking & Reasoning*, Volume 28(3), p. 465–486. https://doi.org/10.1080/13546783.2022.2030407
- 6. Berners-Lee, M. (2020). How Bad Are Bananas? The Carbon Footprint of Everything. London, *Profile Books Ltd.*, Revised 2020 edition, ISBN: 978-1788163811, eISBN: 978-1782837114.
- 7. CarbonCloud website. Accessed in March 2024 at https://carboncloud.com/about-us/
- 8. Carbon Offset Guide. What is a Carbon Offset? Retrieved August 2, 2024 from https://offsetguide.org/understanding-carbon-offsets/what-is-a-carbon-offset/
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S. & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, Volume 486(7401), p. 59-67.
- Carlsson, F., Gravert, C., Johansson-Stenman, O., & Kurz, V. (2021). The use of green nudges as an environmental policy instrument. Review of Environmental Economics and Policy, Volume 15(2):216–2, ISSN: 1750-6824. https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/full/10.1086/715524
- 11. Centre for Climate and Energy Solutions (C2ES). (2023). Climate Basics Energy/Emissions Data. Retrieved in July 2023 from https://www.c2es.org/content/international-emissions/
- 12. CEPII (Centre d'Études Prospectives et d'Informations Internationales). (2023). BACI: International Trade Database at the Product-Level. Version 202301. Retrieved on October 31, 2023, from http://www.cepii.fr/cepii/en/bdd_modele/bdd_modele_item.asp?id=37

- 13. China Institute of Public& Environmental Affairs (IPE) and China City Greenhouse Gas Working Group (City GHG). (2024). CPCD, China Products Carbon Footprint Factors Database. Retrieved in January 2024 from <u>https://lca.cityghg.com/</u>
- 14. Climate Charter, ICRC, IFRC. (2023). The Humanitarian Carbon Calculator. Retrieved in December 2023 from <u>https://www.climate-charter.org/humanitarian-carbon-calculator/</u>
- 15. Davis, S.J., & Caldeira, K. (2010). Consumption-based accounting of CO₂ emissions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, Volume 107(12), p. 5687-5692.
- 16. Ember Climate. (2023). Yearly Electricity Data. Data retrieved on July 17, 2024, from <u>https://ember-</u>

climate.org/app/uploads/2022/07/yearly_full_release_long_format.csv

- Enlund, J., Andersson, D. & Carlsson, F. (2023). Individual Carbon Footprint Reduction: Evidence from Pro-environmental Users of a Carbon Calculator. Environmental and Resource Economics, Volume 86, p. 433–467. <u>https://link-springer-com.libproxy1.nus.edu.sg/article/10.1007/s10640-023-00800-</u> Z
- 18. Energy Resource Consultants Equipoise (ERCE). (2021). ERCE Group News IPCC Sixth Assessment Report Global Warming Potentials. Retrieved in June 2024 at https://erce.energy/erceipccsixthassessment/
- 19. Exchange Rates UK. (2023). Retrieved in October 2023 from https://www.exchangerates.org.uk/
- 20. FoodFootprint. (2024). Retrieved in June 2024 at https://foodfootprint.nl/en/
- 21. Franzen, A., & Mader, S. (2018). Consumption-based versus production-based accounting of CO₂ emissions: Is there evidence for carbon leakage? Environmental Science & Policy, Volume 84, p. 34-40, ISSN 1462-9011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.02.009</u>
- 22. Gartner. (2024). Gartner Glossary Information Technology Glossary SKU (Stock-Keeping Unit) <u>https://www.gartner.com/en/information-</u> technology/glossary/sku-stock-keeping-unit
- 23. Gaulier, G., Mirza, D., Turban, S., Zignago, S. (2008). International Transportation Costs Around the World: A New CIF/FoB rates Dataset. CEPII, Conference Proceedings. Retrieved in June 2024 at https://www.cepii.fr/baci_data/freight_rates/freight_rates_doc.pdf
- 24. Gaulier, G. & Zignago, S. (2010). BACI: International Trade Database at the Product-Level. The 1994-2007 Version. CEPII Working Paper, N°2010-23. https://www.cepii.fr/CEPII/fr/publications/wp/abstract.asp?NoDoc=2726
- 25. Gore, T. (2021). Carbon inequality in 2030: Per capita consumption emissions and the 1.5C goal. Oxfam, IEEP (Institute for European Environmental Policy), SEI. ISBN 978-1-78748-827-4 in November 2021. DOI: 10.21201/2021.8274. https://ieep.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Carbon-inequality-in-2030_IEEP_2021.pdf
- 26. Grubb, M., Nino, N. D., Hertwich, E., Neuhoff, K., Das, K., Bandyopadhyay K.J., Van Asselt, H., Sato, M., Wang, R., Pizer W.A., & Oh, H. (2022). Carbon Leakage, Consumption, and Trade. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, Volume 47, p. 753-795. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-120820-053625</u>

&Lab=CESER

- 27. Hale, T. (2016). "All Hands On Deck": The Paris Agreement and Nonstate Climate Action. Global Environmental Politics, Volume 16(3), p.12-22. <u>https://muse-jhu-edu.libproxy1.nus.edu.sg/article/628804</u>
- 28. Hampton, S. & Whitmarsh L. (2023, September 15). Choices for climate action: A review of the multiple roles individuals play. One Earth, Volume 6 (9), p. 1157-1172, ISSN 2590-3322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2023.08.006</u>
- 29. Hertwich, E.G. & Peters, G.P. (2009, June 14). Carbon Footprint of Nations: A Global, Trade-Linked Analysis. Environmental Science & Technology, Volume 43(16), ISSN p. 6414-6420. <u>https://pubs-acsorg.libproxy1.nus.edu.sg/doi/10.1021/es803496a</u>
- 30. IEA. (2023). The world's top 1% of emitters produce over 1000 times more CO₂ than the bottom 1%, *IEA*. Retrieved in December, 2023 from <u>https://www.iea.org/commentaries/the-world-s-top-1-of-emitters-produce-over-1000-times-more-co2-than-the-bottom-1</u>
- 31. Ingwersen, W. & Li, M. (2020). Supply Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors for US Industries and Commodities. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, EPA/600/R-20/001. Retrieved in December, 2023 from US EPA Science Inventory: <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si_public_file_download.cfm?p_download_id=540798</u>
- 32. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (1996). IPCC guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Geneva: IPCC. Retrieved in October 2023 at <u>http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/gl/invs1.html</u>
- 33. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2018). Global warming of 1.5°C: An IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty (V. Masson-Delmotte et al., Eds.). IPCC. Retrieved in October 2023 at https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/
- 34. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC.) (2023). Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, p. 35-115. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sixth-assessment-report-cycle/</u>
- 35. International Chamber of Commerce. (2020). Incoterms 2020: ICC rules for the use of domestic and international trade terms. ICC Publishing. Retrieved in October 2024 at <u>https://iccwbo.org/business-solutions/incoterms-rules/incoterms-2020/</u>
- 36. International Organization for Standardization (ISO). (2006). ISO 14040:2006 Environmental management – Life cycle assessment – Principles and framework. Geneva: ISO. Retrieved in October 2024 at https://www.iso.org/obp/ui#iso:std:iso:14040:ed-2:v1:en
- 37. Investopedia (2024). Domicile: Legal Definition, Types, and How Taxation Works. *Retrieved* in October 2024 at: <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/domicile.asp</u>

- Ivanova, D., Stadler, K., Steen-Olsen, K., Wood, R., Vita, G., Tukker, A. & Hertwich, E.G. (2016). Environmental Impact Assessment of Household Consumption. Journal of Industrial Ecology, Volume 20(3), p. 526-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12371</u>
- 39. Knight, K. W., & Schor, J. B. (2014). Economic growth and climate change: a crossnational analysis of territorial and consumption-based carbon emissions in highincome countries. Sustainability, Volume 6(6), p. 3722-3731.
- 40. Liu, L. (2015). A critical examination of the consumption-based accounting approach: has the blaming of consumers gone too far? WIREs Climate Change, Volume 6(1), p. 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.325</u>
- 41. Macrotrends. (2024). Singapore Inflation Rate 1961-2024. Retrieved in October 2024 at <u>https://www.macrotrends.net/global-</u> metrics/countries/SGP/singapore/inflation-ratecpi#:~:text=The%20Laspeyres%20formula%20is%20generally,a%200.75%25%20de cline%20from%202019
- 42. Mangır, N., & Şahin, Ü.A. (2022). An environmentally extended global multiregional input-output analysis of consumption-based and embodied importbased carbon emissions of Turkey. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, Volume 29, p. 54813-54826. <u>https://doiorg.libproxy1.nus.edu.sg/10.1007/s11356-022-19290-z</u>
- 43. Meadows D.H., Meadows D.L., Randers, J., & Behrens, W. W. III. (1974). "The Limits to growth. A report for the Club of Rome's Project on the Predicament of Mankind", Club of Rome, Potomac Associates, Universe Books, New York, ISBN 0-87663-165-0. Retrieved in November 2023 from https://www.library.dartmouth.edu/digital/digital-collections/limits-growth
- 44. Moovit Insights. (2022). Public Transit Statistics by Country and City. Retrieved in June 2024 at <u>https://moovitapp.com/insights/en/Moovit_Insights_Public_Transit_Index-</u> <u>countries</u>
- 45. Munksgaard, J., & Pedersen, K.A. (2001). CO₂ accounts for open economies: producer or consumer responsibility? *Energy Policy*, Volume 29 (4), p. 327-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(00)00120-8
- 46. Myclimate.org. (2024). Foundation myclimate The Climate Protection Partnership, Zurich, Switzerland. CO₂ Flight Calculator, accessed in 2024 at <u>https://co2.myclimate.org/en/flight_calculators/new</u>
- 47. OECD. Directorate for Science, Technology and Innovation (OECD DSTI). (2016). OECD CO₂ emissions embodied in consumption. Retrieved in October 2023 from <u>https://web-archive.oecd.org/2016-03-07/390406-EmbodiedCO2_Flyer.pdf</u>
- 48. OpenCO2net. (2024). Retrieved in June 2024 at https://www.openco2.net/en/
- 49. Ozawa-Meida, L., Brockway, P., Letten, K., Davies, J., & Fleming, P. (2013). Measuring carbon performance in a UK University through a consumption-based carbon footprint: De Montfort University case study. Journal of Cleaner Production, Volume 56, p. 185-198.

- 50. Peters, G.P., & Hertwich, E.G. (2008). CO₂ embodied in international trade with implications for global climate policy. *Environmental Science and Technology*, Volume 42(5), p. 1401-1407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es072023k</u>
- 51. Podong, C., Ulbonsook, P., & Noinamsaib, S. (2020). Evaluation of the Carbon Footprint of Fresh Durian Grown in an Agroforestry System in Uttaradit Province, Thailand. Thai Journal of Science and Technology, Volume 9(3), p. 298–309. <u>https://doi.org/10.14456/tjst.2020.20</u>
- 52. Poore, J., & Nemecek, T. (2018). Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. Science, Volume 360(6392), p. 987-992. https://DOI:10.1126/science.aaq0216
- 53. Ports.com. (2024). Retrieved in October 2024 at <u>http://ports.com/sea-route/</u>
- 54. Pottier, A., Combet, E., Cayla, J.M, De Lauretis, S., Nadaud, F. (2020, May). Qui émet du CO₂ ? Panorama critique des inégalités écologiques en France, *Revue de l'OFCE*, Volume 169, p. 73-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.3917/reof.169.0073</u>
- 55. Rayner, S. (2006). Jack Beale Memorial Lecture on Global Environment Wicked Problems: Clumsy Solutions – diagnoses and prescriptions for environmental ills. Institute for Science, Innovation and Society, ANSW Sydney, Australia. Retrieved in September 2024 from <u>https://www.econbiz.de/Record/jack-beale-memoriallecture-on-global-environment-wicked-problems-clumsy-solutions-diagnosesand-prescriptions-for-environmental-ills-rayner-steve/10011427512</u>
- 56. Ritchie, H. (2020). "You want to reduce the carbon footprint of your food? Focus on what you eat, not whether your food is local" Published online at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved in December 2023 from <u>https://ourworldindata.org/food-choice-vs-eating-local</u>
- 57. Ritchie, H., & Rosado, P., & Roser, M. (2020). Energy Mix Explore global data on where our energy comes from, and how this is changing. Our World in Data. Retrieved in October 2024 at <u>https://ourworldindata.org/energy-mix</u>
- 58. Rockström, J., Gaffney, O., Rogelj, J., Meinshausen, M., Nakicenovic, N., & Schellnhuber, H. J. (2017). A roadmap for rapid decarbonization. Science, Volume 355(6331), p. 1269-1271.
- 59. Sala, S., & Castellani, V. (2019). The consumer footprint : Monitoring sustainable development goal 12 with process-based life cycle assessment. Journal of Cleaner production, Volume 240, 118050.
- 60. Sea-distance.org (2024). Retrieved in June 2024 at www://sea-distance.org
- 61. Sexton, S.E. & Sexton, A.L. (2014). Conspicuous conservation: The Prius halo and willingness to pay for environmental bona fides. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, Volume 67(3), p. 303-317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2013.11.004
- 62. Singapore Business Federation. (2024). Singapore Emission Factors Registry. Retrieved in November 2024 from the NetZeroHub.SG digital platform at <u>https://www.sbf.org.sg/what-we-do/sustainability-centric/net-zero-hub</u>
- 63. Singapore Department of Statistics (SG DOS). (2019a). Report on the Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18. ISSN:2661-4103. Full Report retrieved in October 2023 from <u>https://www.singstat.gov.sg/</u>

/media/files/publications/households/hes201718.ashx

64. Singapore Department of Statistics (SG DOS). (2019b). Report on the Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18. ISSN: 2661-4103. Excel tables retrieved in October 2023 from <u>https://www.singstat.gov.sg/-</u> /media/files/publications/households/excel/hes201718a.ashx

65. Singapore Department of Statistics (SG DOS). (2022). Singapore Standard Classification of Individual Consumption According to Purpose (S-COICOP). Retrieved in October 2024 at <u>https://www.singstat.gov.sg/standards/standards-and-classifications/s-coicop</u>

- 66. Singapore National Environment Agency (SG NEA). (2023). Waste Statistics and Overall Recycling. Retrieved in July 2024 from <u>https://www.nea.gov.sg/our-</u> <u>services/waste-management/waste-statistics-and-overall-recycling</u>
- 67. Singapore SBS Transit Link website. (2024a). Approved Bus Fares, Adult Fare Structure (Trunk Services). Retrieved in June 2024 at <u>https://www.transitlink.com.sg/travel-fares/adult-fares/</u>. The website currently merged with EZ-Link as <u>https://www.simplygo.com.sg/</u>
- 68. Singapore SBS Transit Link website. (2024b). Approved Bus Fares, Adult Fare Structure (MRT & LRT). Retrieved in June 2024 at <u>https://www.transitlink.com.sg/travel-fares/adult-fares/</u>. The website currently merged with EZ-Link as <u>https://www.simplygo.com.sg/</u>
- 69. Tan D. Z. L., Hsien C. L. J., Foo C. K., Yang R. J., Ng R., & Low J. S. C. (2020). Trend and future scenario analyses of Singapore's food system through the lens of life cycle environmental impact, *Procedia CIRP*, Volume 90, p. 203-208, ISSN 2212-8271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2020.02.006</u>
- 70. Tan, S. (2023). World Food Day: What are Singapore's major dietary preferences

 and most favourite cuisines? Retrieved in June 2024 from https://business.yougov.com/content/47585-world-food-day-singapore-major-dietary-preferences-most-favourite-cuisines-2023
- 71. Taufique, K. M., Nielsen, K. S., Dietz, T., Shwom, R., Stern, P. C., & Vandenbergh, M.
 P. (2022). Revisiting the promise of carbon labelling. Nature Climate Change, 12(2), p. 132-140.
- 72. Thaler, R. H. & Sunstein, C. R. (2009, June). NUDGE: Improving Decisions About Health, Wealth, and Happiness. Publisher: *Penguin*, ISBN: 9780141040011
- 73. The World Bank. (2023). Atlas of Sustainable Development Goals 2023: SDG13 From Climate Science to Global Action. Retrieved in Oct 2024 at <u>https://datatopics.worldbank.org/sdgatlas/goal-13-climate-action/?lang=en</u>
- 74. Ukaew, S., & Bunsung, M. (2018). The Assessment of Life Cycle Greenhouse Gas Emissions for the Fresh Rice Noodles in Amphoe Muang Phitsanulok Province. Naresuan University Engineering Journal, Volume 13(2), p. 131–155. Retrieved from <u>https://ph01.tci-thaijo.org/index.php/nuej/article/view/119470</u>
- 75. UK Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (UK DESNZ) & UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (UK DEFRA). (2023). UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting, "Conversion factors 2023: full set (for advanced users) - updated 28 June 2023". Data retrieved in November 2023 from <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/649c5358bb13dc0012b2e2b7/gh</u> g-conversion-factors-2023-full-file-update.xlsx



- 76. UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (UK DEFRA). (2023). UK and England's carbon footprint to 2020. UK full dataset 1990 - 2020, including conversion factors by SIC code. UK Footprint Results (1990 - 2020). Retrieved in November 2023 from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uks-carbonfootprint</u>
- 78. US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA), Office of Research and Development (ORD). (2023). Database: US EPA Supply Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors v1.2 by NAICS-6. Data retrieved in October 2023 from <u>https://catalog.data.gov/dataset/supply-chain-greenhouse-gas-emission-factors-v1-2-by-naics-6</u>
- 79. US International Trade Administration (US ITA). (2024). Singapore Country Commercial Guide, Selling Factors and Techniques. Retrieved in June 2024 from <u>https://www.trade.gov/country-commercial-guides/singapore-selling-factors-and-</u> techniques#:~:text=Typical%20Product%20Pricing%20Structures%3A%20Dependi

<u>recnniques#:~:text=Typical%20Product%20Pricing%20structures%3A%20Depeing,run%20about%207%2D10%25</u>.

- 80. Wang, D., Zhao, D., Chen, F. & Tang, X. (2024). Research on Energy Trading Mechanism Based on Individual Level Carbon Quota. *Sustainability*, 16, 5810. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/16/13/5810</u>
- Weber, C.L, & Matthews, H.S. (2008a). Food-Miles and the Relative Climate Impacts of Food Choices in the United States. Environmental Science & Technology, Volume 42(10), ISSN p. 3508-3513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es702969f</u>
- 82. Wiedmann, T. (2009). A review of recent multi-region input-output models used for consumption-based emission and resource accounting. Ecological Economics, Volume 69(2), p. 211-222.
- 83. Wiedmann, T., & Minx, J. (2008). A Definition of Carbon Footprint. Ecological economics research trends, Volume1(2008), p. 1-11.
- 84. World Customs Organization. (2022a). HS (Harmonised System) Nomenclature 2022 edition. Data retrieved in October 2023 at https://www.wcoomd.org/en/topics/nomenclature/instrument-and-tools/hsnomenclature-2022-edition/hs-nomenclature-2022-edition.aspx
- 85. World Customs Organization. (2022b). Harmonized System. Retrieved in October 2024 at https://www.wcotradetools.org/en/harmonized-system
- 86. World Customs Organization (WCO). (2024). What is the Harmonized System (HS)? Retrieved in October 2024 at https://www.wcoomd.org/en/topics/nomenclature/overview/what-is-theharmonized-system.aspx
- 87. World Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD). (2011a). The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Product Life

Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard, <u>Product-Life-Cycle-Accounting-Reporting-Standard Pro041613.pdf (ghgprotocol.org)</u>

- 88. World Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD). (2011b). The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard. Retrieved in October 2023 at https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/Corporate-Value-Chain-Accounting-Reporing-Standard_041613_2.pdf
- 89. World Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD). (2013). The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Technical Guidance for Calculating Scope 3 Emissions (version 1.0). Supplement to the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting & Reporting Standard. Retrieved in October 2023 at <u>https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/2023-03/Scope3_Calculation_Guidance_0%5B1%5D.pdf</u>



Definitions

Assurance	In the context of product lifecycle assessments: "The level of
	confidence that the inventory and report are complete, accurate,
	consistent, transparent, relevant, and without material
	misstatements"
	(WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain
	(Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p. 137).
Biodiversity loss	"Human actions dismantling the Earth's ecosystems, eliminating
	genes, species and biological traits, thereby altering the functioning
	of ecosystems and their ability to provide society with the goods and
	services needed to prosper" (Cardinale et al., 2012, p. 1).
Carbon footprint	"A measure of the total greenhouse gas emissions (expressed in
	tonnes of carbon dioxide [CO2] equivalents) that is directly and
	indirectly caused by a product across its lifecycle from the production
	of raw materials used in its manufacture to the disposal of the finished
	product (Wiedmann and Minx, 2008, p 3 & 4).
Carbon intensity	We use this term to refer to the GHG emissions associated with the
	holistic, cradle-to-grave, lifecycle stages of goods and services,
	reflected as kg CO ₂ e /product or service unit, or kg CO ₂ e/currency
	unit spent on the respective product or service.
	We use this term interchangeably with "GHG emissions intensity",
	"emissions intensity" and "carbon intensity".
Carbon labelling	One definition used in the literature is the following: "Carbon labelling
	summarizes data on the greenhouse gases (GHGs) emitted from the
	production, distribution and use ('carbon tootprints') of a good or
	service in a simple indicator presented at the point of purchase"
	(lautique et al., 2022, p.l).
	In this Whitepaper we use the term to refer to the CUC emissions
	resulting ideally from the optice lifecycle of goods and sonyices
	(including wasta)
Carbon offsets	A reduction in CHC emissions that is used to compensate for emissions
	that occur elsewhere. Carbon offsets are used to "convey a net
	climate benefit from one entity to another." (Carbon Offset Guide
CIF (Cost	We use the Cost. Insurance and Freight (CIF) Incoterm to refer to the
Insurance and	costs incurred by importers, which we equivalate with importer price
Freight)	These costs are formed of the cost of goods charged by the exporter
	(which we equivaled with the FOB price) in addition to the insurance
	and freight required for goods transportation to the port of import
	(International Chamber of Commerce, 2020).
	$CO_{2}e$ stands for carbon dioxide (CO_{2}) equivalent, which is the
equivalent)	standard unit used to convert areenhouse aases (GHGs) (such as
	CH4, N2O, etc) to CO_2 , based on the alobal warming potential (GWP)
	of each of the GHGs. All GHGs are converted based on amount of
	CO ₂ that would have the same impact on alobal warmina.



	CO ₂ e therefore functions as "the universal unit of measurement to indicate the global warming potential (GWP) of each greenhouse gas, expressed in terms of the GWP of one unit of carbon dioxide. It is used to evaluate releasing (or avoiding releasing) different greenhouse gases against a common basis." (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 136).
Consumption- based Accounting	with the consumption of goods and services within a country. Unlike traditional production-based inventories, which focus solely on emissions produced within a country's borders, consumption-based accounting recognizes that imports and exports also contribute to a nation's carbon footprint. This approach holds that individuals who benefit from goods and services should bear some responsibility for the associated emissions. It acknowledges that emissions are not only generated within sovereign territories (as captured by production- based methods) but also through international trade (Davis and Caldeira, 2010).
Commodity	In our paper we refer to commodities as defined by the World Customs Organization (WCO) within the Harmonized System (HS), which is used for international trade of physical goods. Commodities are thereby defined as goods or items traded internationally, which are classified and reporting using a standardized nomenclature. This streamlines customs processing, tariffs computation, international trade reporting. The list of commodities as identifies through HS Codes is available on the World Customs Organization website (World Customs Organization, 2022b).
Conspicuous conservation effect	Phenomenon through which "individuals seek status through displays of austerity amid growing concern about environmental protection" (Sexton et al., 2014).
Consumer	We use this term with the same meaning as in the GHG Protocol: An individual who purchases, rents or acts as the end user of a product or service. (WRI, WBCSD, 2011a – GHG Protocol, Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 134). We use this term interchangeably with "user" or "customer",
Consumer carbon footprint	In this Whitepaper we consider the consumer carbon footprint to be formed of all GHG emissions associated with the products and services consumed or used by the respective individual. In this context we use the words consumer and individual interchangeably.
	This is in line with definitions used in the literature such as "the consumer footprint assesses the potential environmental impacts coming from household consumption through process-based LCA of goods and services purchased and used by a certain entity (Sala and Castellani, 2019, p 2).
	household members' individual carbon footprints.
Consumption carbon footprint	We use this term to refer to the GHG emissions associated with the entire lifecycle of goods and services, regardless of where these



	emissions occur. It covers both direct and indirect emissions including upstream emissions from supply chains, or downstream emissions caused by the use and disposal of products. The concept is used similarly in the literature (such as in Ozawa-Meida et al., 2013, p 1).
	We use this term with a similar meaning to "individual carbon footprint" or "household carbon footprint", depending on context.
Country-of-Origin	The country where most of the value chain of a product is located. In our paper we consider the Country-of-Origin to be the same as the country-of-import as reported in the international trade database we retrieved from CEPII, 2023. We assume the entire value chain of imported products to take place within that country-of-import.
Cradle-to- exporter-gate	All emissions incurred in the lifecycle of a product up until the point of export to Singapore. We consider this lifecycle stage to cover all emissions resulting from the extraction, processing and domestic transportation of raw materials, all manufacturing process, and distribution to the point of international shipping.
Cradle-to-grave	"Removals and emissions of a studied product from material acquisition through to end-of-life" (WRI, WBCSD, 2011a – GHG Protocol, Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 134).
Decarbonization	"Decarbonization is the process of reducing average carbon intensity over time through the continuous replacement of fuels with high carbon content with low carbon alternatives (IPCC, 2007). It involves a shift towards sustainable practices across various sectors such as agriculture, construction, finance, manufacturing and transport (Rockström et al., 2017)".
Demand Based Emissions	Same as (National) Consumption Based Emissions, we use the term interchangeably and in line with the definition from OECD DSTI, 2016.
Economic domicile	"Legal residence or principal place of business where an entity or individual is considered to reside for tax purposes" (Investopedia, 2024).
EEIO (Environmentally Extended Input- Output) models	"A model that links economic input-output tables with environmental data and can be used for environmental assessment of supply chains of industries or commodities, as performed in life cycle assessments" (Ingwersen and Li, 2020).
	One of the outputs of these models are Monetary EFs, which are defined as "Emission factors developed through the analysis of economic flows and used to estimate GHG emissions for a given industry or product category" (WRI, WBCSD, 2011a – GHG Protocol, Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 134).
EF Extrapolation	In the context used in our Whitepaper, this is the technique we apply to estimate EF data points beyond the range we were able to collect, based on logical assumptions on products and services GHG emissions dependency on electricity emissions, for any given product in any given country. From a statistical point of view, unlike for more typical extrapolation exercises, we do not use observed patterns in the EF data for extrapolation due to data scarcity. The technique is close to imputation, in the sense that our goal is to fill in missing EF by



	product by country, as a placeholder until a global database is in place.
	The definition of extrapolated data from GHG Protocol is: "Data from a similar process or activity that is used as a stand-in for the given process or activity and has been customized to be more presentative of the given process or activity" (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 137).
Electricity/Energy mix differential	We define the electricity carbon intensity differential (which we refer to as 6) as the relative carbon intensity of electricity production between any 2 countries (6 = Electricity EF of Country A/Electricity EF of Country B). This is the coefficient that we use to extrapolate the EF for a product manufactured in Country A to the EF for the same product manufactured in Country B.
Embodied Carbon	In this Whitepaper we use "Embodied Carbon" to refer to GHG emissions associated with the Production stage, covering all the life cycle stages from cradle to export gate (covering raw materials extraction, raw materials processing, manufacturing and assembly, transportation to the point of shipment for export).
Emission Factor	A factor that converts a unit of product into associated GHG emissions, in alignment with the GHG Protocol definition: "A factor that converts activity data into GHG emissions data (e.g., kg CO ₂ e emitted per liter of fuel consumed" (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 137).
	The term often referred to in the industry as "Conversion Factor", such as in the dataset "UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting" (UK DESNZ and UK DEFRA, 2023)
Energy mix	We use this term in alignment with the following definition "The energy mix refers to the diverse range of sources such as coal, oil, gas, nuclear, hydropower, solar, wind, and biofuels. However, it mainly consists of fossil fuels, renewable technologies and nuclear power (Ritchie and Rosado, 2020).
Expenditure Item Category	We use this term to refer to the first level of resolution (L1) we use in this Whitepaper to map goods and services. Aligned to the first level of grouping of expenditures in the SG Department of Statistics Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b).
Expenditure Item Sub-Category	We use this term to refer to the second level of resolution (L2) we use in this Whitepaper to map goods and services. Aligned to the second level of grouping of expenditures in the SG Department of Statistics Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b).
Expenditure Item Class	We use this term to refer to the third level of resolution (L3) we use in this Whitepaper to map goods and services. Aligned to the third level of grouping of expenditures in the SG Department of Statistics Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b).
Expenditure Item Type	We use this term to refer to the fourth level of resolution (L4) we use in this Whitepaper to map goods and services. Aligned to the fourth level of grouping of expenditures in the SG Department of Statistics Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b).



Expenditure Item	We use this term to refer to the fifth level of resolution (L5) we use in this Whitepaper to map goods and services. This level of resolution goes beyond the granularity available in the SG DOS HES 2017 / 18 (SG DOS, 2019b). Therefore, this is a level of grouping we do not have spend information for, however we this level it to assign EFs with a higher degree of representativeness.
	We use this term interchangeably with "Item", "Product" or "Service".
FOB (Free on Board) Prices	We use the Free on Board Incoterm to refer to estimated exporter prices, corresponding to the prices charged for goods at the point of export, as derived from the CEPII BACI dataset (CEPII, 2023), (Gaulier and Zignago, 2010). In our calculations we consider this to be the price paid at the point of import, on top of which several other markups are incurred up until the point of sale: CIF (Cost for Insurance and Freight) rates for international shipping, followed by warehousing, logistics and retail markups for domestic distribution.
Fresh/Chilled/Froz en (Foods)	We consider fresh and chilled foods to be highly perishable and thus require faster transport for international shipments (by road from neighbouring countries and by air from further distanced countries). We consider frozen foods to be less perishable if maintained at controlled temperature, and thus able to withstand longer shipment duration (by road from neighbouring countries, and by sea from further distanced countries).
GHGs (Greenhouse Gases)	For the purposes of this Whitepaper we have endeavoured to source emission factors covering as many as possible of the main GHGs covered by the Kyoto Protocol and recommended by the GHG Protocol (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 138): carbon dioxide (CO ₂), methane (CH4); nitrous oxide (N2O), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), perfluorocarbons (PFCs), and sulphur hexafluoride (SF6).
	Some of the datasets we sourced include NF3 also ⁸⁹ , which has been recently identified to have a high global warming potential, while other studies may cover only the top 3 (CO ₂ , CH4 and N2O) ⁹⁰ . We therefore use GHGs to refer generically to the greenhouse gases as they are captured in the underlying Original EFs sourced and used in the calculations.
	We use this term interchangeably with "Emissions", "carbon emissions", or "GHG emissions".
GHG Emissions Intensity	We use it this term to refer to the GHG emissions associated with a unit of a product or service (reflected as kg CO_2e /unit of product or service, or kg CO_2e /monetary unit).
	We use this term interchangeably with "GHG Intensity", "carbon intensity" and "Emission Factors".

⁸⁹ Such as the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (UK DESNZ and UK DEFRA, 2023), or the US EPA Supply Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors v1.2 (US EPA ORD, 2023). 90 Such as the EF data from the Environmental Impact of Key Food Items in Singapore (A*STAR et al., 2023).



Green Nudge	An intervention that influences people's behaviour without prohibiting choices or significantly changing incentives (Thaler and Sunstein, 2009), with the intent to reduce a negative environmental externality (Carlsson et al., 2021).
GWP (Global Warming Potential)	GWP stands for Global Warming Potential, which is a multiplier used to convert a specific Greenhouse Gase to CO_2 as a common denominator, for comparability purposes of total emissions associated with goods, services, processes or activities. "GWPs are multipliers applied to greenhouse gases such as methane (CH ₄) and Nitrous Oxide (N ₂ O) to equate the impact they have on the Earth's temperature with that of Carbon Dioxide (CO ₂ ⁹¹) (ERCE, 2021).
	Another definition of GWP is "a factor used to calculate the cumulative radiative forcing impact of multiple specific GHGs in a comparable way" (WRI, WBCSD, 2011a – GHG Protocol, Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 135).
HS (Harmonised System)	" The Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System generally referred to as 'Harmonized System' or simply 'HS' is a multipurpose international product nomenclature developed by the World Customs Organization (WCO). It comprises more than 5,000 commodity groups; each identified by a six-digit code, arranged in a legal and logical structure and is supported by well-defined rules to achieve uniform classification. The system is used by more than 200 countries and economies as a basis for their Customs tariffs and for the collection of international trade statistics. Over 98 % of the merchandise in international trade is classified in terms of the HS." (World Customs Organization, 2024)
HS (Harmonised System) Commodity Codes	This refers to the unique six digits identifier allocated to commodities, for international trade tracking, reporting and customs processing. (World Customs Organization, 2024) We use this term interchangeably with "HS codes", "HS commodity codes" or "commodity codes".
Imputed Rent	We use this term in the context of expenditure for owner-occupied accommodation, as quantified and defined through the SG DOS Household Expenditure Survey 2017 / 18. Thereby the imputed rent is the estimated rent that homeowners would have to pay if they were renting their own homes instead of owning them (SG DOS, 2019a, p. 3).
Incoterm	Short for International Commercial Term, a standardize trade term used in international and national agreements for the sale of products. Published by the International Chamber of Commerce (International Chamber of Commerce, 2020).
Life Cycle	"Consecutive and interlinked stages of a product system, from raw material acquisition or generation of natural resources to end of life." (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p. 139)
LCA (Life Cycle Assessment)	"Compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system through its life cycle"



	(WRI, WBCSD, 2011a – GHG Protocol, Product Life Cycle Accounting
	and Reporting Standard, p. 135).
Life Cycle Stage	Per the GHG Protocol, "a life cycle stage is one of the interconnected
	steps in a product's life cycle". (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol
	Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting
	Standard, p 11).
Monetary	An Emission Factor measured in kg CO ₂ e/unit of currency, used to
Emission ractor	conven a purchase of a specific product of service into the GHG
	particularly useful in the absence of actual physical data, or when
	the examination of the environmental impact of consumption is
	conducted starting from expenditures rather than physical
	consumption.
	We use this term interchangeably with "spend-based Emission
	Factors" and "carbon intensity on a per dollar basis" (kg CO ₂ e per
	unit of spending).
MREE IO (Multi	Analytical models focused on the environmental impacts associated
Region	with economic activities within and between countries. These models
Environmentally Extended Input	incorporating environmental data from various national and
Output) model	international sources thus offering insights on the environmental
	impact of various economic sectors and countries (Wiedmann, 2009).
(National)	Consumption-based accounting of GHG emissions allocates
Consumption	emissions to the final consumer of the goods and services, regardless
Based Emissions	of where the emissions were physically generated, and by whom. It
	thus places the responsibility of GHG emissions to the final consumers
	or users of products or services, even if those emissions occur outside
	their national borders or produced by entities outside of their control
	Furthermore, "the terms consumption-based emissions and demand-
	based emissions can be used interchangeably and include emissions
	embodied in final consumption (households and government) as well
	as gross fixed capital formation (investment), changes in inventories
	and direct purchases abroad by residents" (OECD DSTI, 2016).
(National)	lerritorial emissions capture emissions that occur within a country's
	computing compate production and as flaring. These cover
EITIISSIOTIS	emissions embodied in exports and include emissions embodied in
	imports (Knight and Schor, 2014).
	"The calculation of production-based and territorial emissions differs
	according to the allocation of non-resident emissions. For example,
	for territorial emissions, the emissions associated with fuel-purchases
	by non-residents are allocated to the country where the fuel is
	purchased, while for production-based emissions the same emissions
	(OECD DSTI, 2016).



(National)	"The greenhouse gas emissions from all the oil, coal, and gas
Froduction Based	consumed in a country by private nousenoids, industrial production of goods and services, and electricity production." It does not cover
	emissions from international transportation as they are outside
	jurisdictional territories, or emissions embodied in the production of
Dhusia al Ensissia a	goods in other countries (Franzen and Mader, 2018).
Eactor	An Emission Factor measured in kg CO2e/physical Unit, Used to convert the unit of a specific product or service into the GHG
	emissions associated with the lifecycle of the respective product or
	service.
	We use the term interchangeably with "carbon intensity on a per unit
Product	basis" (kg CO ₂ e per unit). Tanaible good, in consumer ready finished form, purchasable from
FIGUUCI	retail operators.
Production stage	We use the term in line with the GHG Protocol definition: "A life cycle
	stage that begins when the product components enter the
	production site for the studied product and ends when the finished
	GHG Protocol. Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting
	Standard, p 136).
Proxy Data	"Data from a similar process or activity that is used as a stand-in for
	the given process or activity without being customized to be more
	2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting
	and Reporting Standard, p 140).
Service	"An intangible product. "(WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol
	Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard p 140)
Stock Keeping	"A unique identification number that defines an item at the
Unit (SKU)	identifiable inventory level; for example, in retail applications, the SKU
Summh - Chain	may designate style, size and colour" (Gartner, 2024).
Supply Chain	distributors and retailers) involved in the production, delivery, and sale
	of a product to the consumer." (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG
	Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and
Svetene bevinden (Reporting Standard, p 141).
system boundary	service life cycle that EFs are computed for. For example, an EF for a
	certain product can offer emissions estimation covering the entire
	cradle-to-grave lifecycle, whereas another EF may cover only the
	cradle-to-gate litecycle.
	The broader definition of the term refers to the set of criteria that
	identifies which unit processes are included in a product system,
	thereby determining the limits of the system being analysed (ISO,
Tonne km	2006). Toppe-Kilometre, Unit of measurement used in international shipping
	representing the transport of one ton of a specific product, over a
	distance of one kilometre.
Uncertainty	We use the term in various contexts, in alignment with the GHG
	FIOIOCOI:



	"1. Quantitative definition: Measurement that characterizes the dispersion of values that could reasonably be attributed to a parameter. 2. Qualitative definition: A general and imprecise term that refers to the lack of certainty in data and methodology choices, such as the application of non-representative factors or methods, incomplete data on sources and sinks, lack of transparency etc." (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 141).
	In our Whitepaper "Consumption Carbon Footprint: Country Level Data Framework" we describe in detail our sensitivity analysis approach. In brief, we compute the uncertainty of our Consumer Carbon Footprint estimation - as Simulated Std Deviation over Simulated Mean, for Monte Carlo simulations run against parameters affected by assumptions injected into the model.
Use stage	"A life cycle stage that begins when the consumer takes possession of the product and ends when the used product is discarded for transport to a waste treatment location or recycled into another product's life cycle" (WRI, WBCSD, 2011a – GHG Protocol, Product Life Cycle Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 137).
Value Chain	"All of the upstream and downstream activities associated with the operations of the reporting company, including the use of sold products by consumers and the end-of-life treatment of sold products after consumer use." (WRI and WBCSD, 2011b, GHG Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, p 141).
Warehousing, Distribution and Retail emissions	All emissions incurred after the point of import, due to storage of the product, domestic logistics, and retail operations.
Waste emissions	All emissions incurred after the end of life of the product, when any related waste associated with the product, or its packaging are discarded for transportation to waste management facilities.



Acronyms

ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
BACI (French)	Base pour I 'Analyse du Commerce International
CBA	Consumption-Based Accounting
CEPII (French)	Centre d'Études Prospectives et d'Informations Internationales
CH4	Methane
CIF	Cost, Insurance and Freight
СО	Country-of-Origin
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CO ₂ e	Carbon dioxide equivalent
CPI	Consumer Price Index
EEIO	Environmentally Extended Input-Output
EF	Emission Factor
(US) EPA	(US) Environmental Protection Agency
FOB	Free on Board
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GHG(s)	Greenhouse Gas(es)
GWP(s)	Global Warming Potential(s)
HES	Household Expenditure Survey
HFCs	Hydrofluorocarbons
Ю	Input-Output
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
KG	Kilogram
KM	Kilometre
КШН	Kilowatt-hour
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
MREE IO	Multi Region Environmentally Extended Input Output
MRIO	Multi Regional Input Output Analysis
NF3	Nitrogen trifluoride
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
N2O	Nitrous oxide
NM	Nautical Mile
PBA	Production-Based Accounting
PFCs	Perfluorocarbons (used in the context of GHGs examples)
(S) COICOP	Singapore Classification of Individual Consumption According to
CE/	
360	
36	Singupore
(20) 002	(SG) Department of Statistics
2GD	Singapore Dollar
2KU	
T	Ionne (Metric Ion)


(UK) DEFRA	(UK) Department of Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (UK
	Government Ministerial Department)
(UK) DESNZ	(UK) Department for Energy Security and Net Zero
(UN) COICOP	The United Nations Classification of Individual Consumption
	According to Purpose
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
USD	United States Dollar
WBCSD	World Business Council for Sustainable Development
WCO	World Customs Organization
WRI	World Resources Institute



© 2025 Sustainable and Green Finance Institute, National University of Singapore, Singapore.

Sustainable and Green Finance Institute (SGFIN)

National University of Singapore Innovation 4.0,

3 Research Link

#02-02 Singapore 117602